博士論文

大腸菌シトクロムbo複合体の

酸化還元反応中心の構造

1992年

皆 川 純

博士論文

Molecular Structure of the Redox Reaction Center of the Cytochrome *bo* Complex in *Escherichia coli*

(大腸菌シトクロムbo 複合体の酸化還元反応中心の構造)

1992年1月

皆川 純

MOLECULAR STRUCTURE OF THE REDOX REACTION CENTER OF THE CYTOCHROME BO COMPLEX IN ESCHERICHIA COLI

BY

JUN MINAGAWA

THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmaceutical Science in the Graduate School of the University of Tokyo, Tokyo, 1992

ACKNOWL DOGREMY

First and forement, I wanted the to thank Dy, Yasahire Anguka for being a wonderful advante thereighted my graduate encrose. Turingh his dedication and manufatered, in papired me to Author my editoride. He provided res with the opportunity to 0 strength had time for talkable discusse to

I also would be provide Or. Determine Mogin He provided invaluable achieve and many interregibles limit hept the point.

I are very grateful to Dr. Rypsiu Kito for antimera applicat suffaults I and II of the crossicome be complex and for workful enous appearent throughout this study.

Dedicated To: my family for their love and support.

Average of the second all the part and proved members of the source of the twenty for their friendship and many estuable the source of the sou

I Gorsh my parints, Breaking and Nobuko, for their stations, montragramment, and love.

Pionity, I would like to trank Kenalo, for her her and understanding. The just been my filosoft (rees)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Yasuhiro Anraku for being a wonderful adviser throughout my graduate career. Through his dedication and commitment, he inspired me to further my education. He provided me with the opportunity and always had time for valuable discussions.

I also would like to thank Dr. Tatsushi Mogi. He provided invaluable advice and many intangibles that kept me going.

I am very grateful to Dr. Kiyoshi Kita for antisera against subunits I and II of the cytochrome bo complex and for warmful encouragement throughout this study.

I would like to thank Dr. Robert B. Gennis and Melissa W. Calhohn for collaboration and valuable discussions.

I would like to thank all the past and present members of the Anraku laboratory for their friendship and many valuable discussions. I especially thank Drs. Akihiko Nakano and Yoshikazu Ohya for the many their valuable suggestions and encouragement.

I thank my parents, Haruhisa and Nobuko, for their support, encouragement, and love.

Finally, I would like to thank Kanako, for her love and understanding. She has been my closest friend.

ABBREVIATIONS

kb	kilo base pairs
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
MCD	magnetic circular dichroism
EXAFS	extended X-ray absorption fine structure
ENDOR	electron nuclear double resonance.
EC	Escherichia coli
HH	Halobacterium halobium
BS	Bacillus subtilis
PS	Thermophilic bacillus PS3
BJ	Bradyrhizobium japonicum
PD	Paracoccus denitrificans
SC	Saccharomyces cerevisiae (yeast)
SP	Saccharomyces pombe (fission yeast)
AN	Aspergillus nidulans
NC	Neurospora crassa
CR	Chlamydomonas reinhardi
WH	Triticum aestivum (wheat)
ZM	Zea mays (maise)
SO	Sorghum bicolor milo
OR	Oriza (rice)
SB	Glycine max (soy been)
OB	Oenothera bercerius (evening primrose)
TB	Trypanosoma brucei
LT	Leishmania tarentolae (Trypanosoma plantydanctuli)
TE	Tetrahymena pyriformis
PA	Paramecium aurelia
DM	Drosophila melanogaster
DY	Drosophila yakuba

SU	Paracentrotus lividus (sea urchin)
XL	Xenopus laevis
MS	Mus culus (mouse)
RA	Rattus norvegicus (rat)
BV	Bos primigenius (bovine)
HU	Homo sapiens (human)

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSENTATION

Millecular Alexandre of the Relate Location Conter of the Oxfort runs to Complex in Redeviction add

Bun Mittaguran

rector of Philmaphy in Planmacru Scal Sciences

be the company of Dakses Telepo, 1997

The problem are to complete to a terminal stription or date on the perchip respectively white of Sentenchin soft and from these as a period promp. Is billing a terminate repper oxidate superfractly with the ang-type sytechning a replace in with theorem and nerolid technics. To plantify human of herein and nepper, sight conterval his diries of matching 1 were replaced by sharing, in addition, and His 105, 254, -410 and -421 by glutamine and methodize.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Molecular Structure of the Redox Reaction Center of the Cytochrome *bo* Complex in *Escherichia coli*

by

Jun Minagawa

Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmaceutical Science

the University of Tokyo, Tokyo, 1992

The cytochrome *bo* complex is a terminal ubiquinol oxidase in the aerobic respiratory chain of *Escherichia coli* and functions as a proton pump. It belongs to the hemecopper oxidase superfamily with the *aa*3-type cytochrome *c* oxidases in mitochondria and aerobic bacteria. To identify ligands of hemes and copper, eight conserved histidines in subunit I were replaced by alanine, in addition, and His-106, -284, -419 and -421 by glutamine and methionine. Alterations of invariant His residue at positions 106, 284, 333, 334, 419, and 421, of subunit I caused loss of the enzymatic activity *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Spectroscopic analysis revealed that replacements of His-106 and -421 specifically eliminated a 563.5 nm peak of the low-spin heme, and that replacements of His-106, -284, and -419 reduced the extent of CO-binding high-spin heme. Atomic absorption analysis showed that alterations of His-106, -333, -334, and -419 eliminated Cu_B almost completely. From these findings, His-106 and -421 are concluded to be the axial ligands of the low spin heme and that His-284 to be a possible ligand of the high-spin heme. His-333, -334, and -419 are concluded to be the ligands of Cu_B.

To insure the assignment described above and to identify the residues which play important roles on the enzymatic function, such as electron transfer and involving the ligand binding pocket, twelve aromatic amino acid residues were altered by site-directed mutagenesis. Of twelve constructs, five alterations, W280L, Y288L, F328L, W331L, and F348L were identified to cause loss of the enzymatic activity in vivo. All of these mutants except F328L also lost CuB. Spectroscopic analysis revealed that replacements of Phe-112 and -113 caused red-shift of a 563.5 nm peak of the low-spin heme, and that replacements of Trp-280 and -282 reduced the extent of CO-binding highspin heme. These findings are consistent with the results from His-to-Ala mutations, and led me to present a helical wheel model of the redox reaction center in subunit I that consists of the transmembrane helices II, VI, VII, VIII and X.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter I. (General Introduction	.1
Back	ground	.2
	Respiratory Chain	.2
	Terminal Oxidases	.3
	Two terminal ubiquinol oxidases in E. coli	.4
	Heme-copper oxidase superfamily	.6
Scope	of this thesis	.9
Table.		0
Figure	s	1
Chapter II.	Experimental Procedures1	9
	Media2	20
	Bacterial Strains2	20
	Genetic Procedures and DNA Manipulations2	21
	Introduction of additional restriction sites in the <i>cyoB</i> gene2	22
	(A) Constructions of pCYOF4 and pMFO42	22
	(B) Constructions of pCYOF9 and pMFO9	23
	Site-directed Mutagenesis2	23
	(A) Replacements of Conserved His Residues	23
	(B) Replacements of conserved aromatic amino acid residues	24
	Preparation of Cytoplasmic Membranes and Purification of Mutant Enzymes2	25

C G	omplementation Test for Aerobic rowth	25
0	ptical Spectroscopy	26
E	PR Spectroscopy	27
0	ther methods	27
M	laterials	28
Tables		29
Figures.		32
Chapter III.	Replacements of the Conserved His Residues	35
Introdu	action	36
В	iochemical Properties	36
G	enetical Aspects	37
L	ocalization of binding sites of prosthetic roups	38
L	igands of Prosthetic groups	39
T	he aim of this study	40
Results.		42
M	lutagenesis of conserved His residues in ibunit I	42
In	<i>vivo</i> activities of mutant enzymes	43
Q pi	uinol oxidase activity of partially purified reparations	45
Ir er	nmunological analysis of the mutant nzymes	45
Sj	pectroscopic analysis of the mutant nzymes in cytoplasmic membranes	46
Sj	pectroscopic properties of partially urified preparations	47
C	opper contents in mutant oxidases	47

Construction of a model for membrane- spanning regions of subunit I48
Discussion
Tables
Figures63
Chapter IV. Replacements of Conserved Aromatic Amino Acid Residues
Introduction73
Aromatic ring may mediate electron- transfer
Aromatic ring bulkiness may serve as binding pocket for prosthetic group74
The aim of this study75
Results
Mutagenesis of conserved aromatic amino acid residues in subunit I76
Enzymatic Activities in vivo77
Immunological identification77
Copper content
Optical spectra79
Modeling80
Discussion
Table
Figures
Chapter V. Conclusion
REFERENCES

Benn gruunia

Chapter I. General Introduction

the solar average item matches Jorrin is discripted join heat, a still portion of it is converted as chowised energy by the present of photogynthesis; while is aplin by a reaction manylical by photon; the liberated electrones are then descaled to Gife molecule. Here the energy from the sun is backed into archie argamic molecule, such as givernes

In induction his arguments, the argume protocolas are merabolited to the givenlytic pathway and the ciric and ends. After the matter, abstrant are thereford and the fam a respiratory shoup, only by which matter ponphoto-rations of a secondar of ratios components which upon mitochandrial since: membrane in entropy the cytoplasmic membrane in protacyetes. The electric surrent through these is coupled to the transitionity of protons across the membranes, where the free energy is termentally signed is a fact of electronismum proton of protons across the membranes, where the free energy is termentally signed is a fact of electronismum protons of protons across the membranes, where the free energy is termentally signed is a fact of electronismum protons of protons across the membranes, where the free energy is termentally signed in a fact of first energy in a fact ATP, the learn distance of index of first supported by Minimal (1951) is apprinted using the course in a form of mattering in a fact of index of the strange in a form of mattering the protons.

Background

Respiratory Chain

Life is a phenomenon in which there is a continuous flow of energy, originating from the sun. Although most of the solar energy that reaches Earth is dissipated into heat, a small portion of it is converted to chemical energy by the process of photosynthesis: water is split by a reaction energized by photon, the liberated electrons are then donated to CO_2 molecule. Here the energy from the sun is locked into stable organic molecule, such as glucose.

In heterotrophic organisms, the organic molecules are metabolized in the glycolytic pathway and the citric acid cycle. After the reaction, electrons are liberated and fed into a respiratory chain, only by which reaction nonphotosynthetic organisms can obtain energy. Respiratory chain consists of a number of redox components which span mitochondrial inner membrane in eukaryotes or cytoplasmic membrane in prokaryotes The electric current through them is coupled to the translocation of protons across the membranes, where the free energy is temporarily stored in a form of electrochemical gradient. ATP, the immediate source of free energy in most endergonic reactions of living cells, as first suggested by Mitchell (1961) is synthsized using the energy in a form of electrochemical gradients. Problems of the organization of respiratory components and the molecular mechanisms of acquisition of energy by the redox reactions have been studied extensively. Studies in the last 20 years have been concentrated on the biochemical properties of cytochromes in various organisms. A major development in the research on respiratory components in the late 80's was the elucidation of bacterial respiratory chains, while often have multiple branches (Anraku 1988). Molecular cloning of mitochondrial genomes has been accomplished, whereas the expression of those genes have not yet been succeeded. Then, more and more researchers have turned their eyes to the study on bacterial respiratory chains (Saraste 1990).

Terminal Oxidases

It is common to most living organisms on Earth, such as bacteria, fungi, plants and animals, that the last component of respiratory chain is a terminal oxidase, which catalyzes reduction of the terminal electron accepter and oxidation of the intermediate electron mediator, such as cytochrome c, ubiquinonol, and menaquinol. Most aerobe and facultative anaerobe have a terminal oxidase which uses molecular oxygen as a terminal electron accepter. In a narrow sense, such an enzyme is named to terminal oxidase.

All mitochondrial terminal oxidases use cytochrome c as a reductant and contain two a-type hemes (heme a and a_3) as well as two copper atoms (Cu_A and Cu_B). On the other hand, considerably more variety is found in bacterial respiratory chain, which have been classified based on

whether or not they can oxidize cytochrome c (Raitio et al. 1987). In the late 80's, it was established that the terminal oxidases in most bacteria can use quinol, such as ubiquinol and/or menaquinol as a reductant. The bacterial terminal oxidases has been accordingly classified (Anraku 1988). Recently, various combinations of heme species were found in the terminal oxidases of most bacteria-aa3-type cytochrome c oxidase (P. denitrificans), ba3-type cytochrome c oxidase (T. thermophilus), caa_3 -type cytochrome c oxidase (thermophilic bacteria PS3), caotype cytochrome c oxidase (Alkalophilic bacillus YN-2000), bo-type and bd-type quinol oxidase (E. coli), aa₃-type quinol oxidase (S. acidocaldarius), b-type quinol oxidase (thermophilic bacteria PS3), and ba_1 -type quinol oxidase (A. aceti). Hence, we cannot say but more data are necessary to classify properly the enzymes indicated above.

Two terminal ubiquinol oxidases in E. coli

Keilin (1934) analyzed bacterial cytochromes spectroscopically and reported that *E. coli* has four cytochormes—cytochrome a_1, a_2, b_1 , and d_1 . Cytochromes a_1 and a_2 were later renamed cytochromes b_{595} and d, respectively (Green *et al.* 1986). Shipp (1972) measured fourth-order finite spectra of low-temperature difference spectra of cytochromes from *E. coli* and concluded that the α -band, previously attributed to cytochrome b_1 , is a composite of the absorption bands of five or more different pigments and tentatively assigned these bands to at least three *b*-type cytochromes. Since then, several investigators have reported the spectral and potentiometric relations of the *b*-type cytochromes, and concluded that the major membrane-bound cytochrome components of the *E. coli* aerobic respiratory chain are localized to the cytochrome bo ubiquinol oxidase, the cytochrome bd ubiquinol oxidase, and the succinate dehydrogenese, which have α -band at about 555 and 562, 558, and 556 nm, respectively.

The terminal respiratory chain of *E. coli* branches into two ubiquinol oxidases described above (Fig. I-1, see Anraku and Gennis 1987). The cytochrome bo complex is expressed predominantly under the conditions where oxygen tension is high (Minagawa et al. 1990), whereas the cytochrome *bd* complex is expressed at low oxygen tension (Georgiou et al. 1988b). Mutant lacking one of the two oxidases can grow normally, but a mutant lacking both oxidases cannot grow aerobically on nonfermentable carbon sources (Au et al. 1985). Electron-transfer from ubiquinol-8 through either of these oxidases results in reduction of oxygen to water (Minghetti and Gennis 1988). Although these two oxidases have functional similarities, they also possess many distinguishing features. These differences can be seen structurally in a comparison of the number and size of subunit and prosthetic group composition. Both of the enzymes have been purified to homogeneity, and the preparations indicate that the cytochrome bd complex contains 2 subunits (Miller and Gennis 1983) with 2 mol of b-type heme and 2 mol of dtype heme (Lorence et al. 1986). The cytochrome bo complex, on the other hand, has been purified in several laboratories and is reported to contain from two (Kita et al. 1984), four (Matsushita et al. 1984, Georgiou et al. 1988a), to five subunits (Minghetti *et al.* 1992, Mogi *et al.* 1992). The preparations of four or five subunits contained 2 mol of heme and 1 mol of copper atom (Fig. I-2). The genes, *cyoABCDE* and *cydAB*, coding for the cytochrome *bo* and cytochrome *bd* complex, respectively, have been cloned and sequenced (Green *et al.* 1984, Green *et al.* 1988, Chepuri *et al.* 1990a, Nakamura *et al.* 1990). The primary sequences of these two oxidases were found to share no homology.

Recently, functional difference was also found: Proton pumping experiments performed on these complexes in sphaeroplasts indicated that only the cytochrome *bo* complex is able to function as a proton pump (Puustinen *et al.* 1989). Although the cytochrome *bo* complex is functionally similar to the cytochrome *bd* complex, and can actually replace the cytochrome *bd* complex *in vivo*, they are probably quite distinct.

Heme-copper oxidase superfamily

At the time I entered graduate school, 1986, a few researchers regarded the cytochrome bo complex as a model system for the study of terminal oxidases (Kita *et al.* 1984, Hata *et al.* 1985). The cytochrome bo complex appeared to be structurally and functionaly rather different from the eucaryotic cytochrome c oxidase: Purified enzyme contains at most five subunits while eucaryotic oxidase comprises of seven to thirteen subunits. As for heme species, *E. coli* enzyme contains protoheme IX (Kita *et al.* 1984, Matsushita *et al.* 1984), whereas eucaryotic enzyme has two *a*-type hemes. Until the primary structure of the cytochrome *bo* complex was elucidated (Chepuri *et al.* 1990a), the aa_3 -type cytochrome c oxidase from P. *denitrificans* had been regarded as a model system for the study of cytochrome c oxidase. The enzyme from this organism has the following advantages: Purified samples have only two subunits (Ludwig and Schatz 1980) and molecular genetical approach is able to apply.

The primary structure of E. coli enzyme unveiled that subunit I of this enzyme has strong homology to subunit I of the aa_3 -type cytochrome c oxidase of mitochondria and aerobic bacteria, in that 40 % of the amino acids are conserved over a 550 amino acid overlap (Fig. I-3). This finding implies that the *E*. coli enzyme is structually similar at least on the level of primary structure. Moreover, the following 'key' properties (Table I-1) were identified in the E. coli enzyme, which had been found in the eucaryotic enzymes: 1) Both low-spin and COreactive high-spin hemes were identified in EPR spectra (Hata et al. 1985). 2) The low-spin and high-spin hemes were identified in both of its reduced and air-oxidized states (Uno et al. 1985). 3) Proton pumping activity was measured in spheroplasts (H+/e-=2) (Puustinen et al. 1989). 4) Spin coupling interaction between the high-spin heme and Cu_B was detected by the potentiometric analysis of the EPR spectrum (Salerno et al. 1989). 5) Redox interaction between the low-spin and high-spin heme was observed in EPR spectrum (Salerno et al. 1990). 6) The CO-binding high-spin heme localized to subunit I (Nakamura et al. 1990). 7) The carbon monooxide molecules which are photodisociated from the high-spin heme immediately bound to Cu_B (by FTIR, see Chepuri et

al. 1990b). These reports suggested that eucaryotic and *E. coli* enzyme function in a very similar fashion and have a common molecular architecture of the reaction center.

Therefore, it is reasonable that "heme-copper oxidase" superfamily includes all the mitochondrial and many bacterial terminal oxidases whether or not they can oxidase cytochrome c (Gennis 1991). Recently, Puustine and Wikström (1991) showed another important property that supported the existence of "heme-copper oxidase" superfamily. They found a novel heme, heme O, in the cytochrome bo complex in place of protoheme IX. This has similar structure to the basal structure of *a*-type heme, in which a hydroxyethylfarnesyl side chain are bound at position 2, but no formyl group are bound at position 8. Furthermore, very recent work has showed that *caa*₃-type cytochrome c oxidase in PS3 can bind heme O at the O_2 binding active site, when the cells were cultured under slightly air-limited conditions (Sone and Fujiwara 1991). The same phenomenon has been observed in the case of ba1-type ubiquinol osidase in A. aceti (Matsushita et al. 1991). Although the conclusion of Puustinen and Wikström that both chromophores of the cytochrome bo complex are heme O is still controvertial, it is established that several oxidases including the cytochrome bo complex contain heme a-like heme at the O₂-binding active site (Mogi and Anraku 1992). This findings further substantiates the structural similarities between the cytochrome bo complex and the $\alpha\alpha_3$ -type mitochondrial oxidase, and thus, "heme-copper oxidase superfamily" is generally received (Fig. I-2, see Saraste et al. 1991a, Haltia and Wikström 1992).

Scope of this thesis

The research presented in this thesis focuses on the structure-function studies on the cytochrome bo complex using site-directed mutagenesis. From the comparison of the primary structures of subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex and its counterparts of the aa_3 -type cytochrome oxidase, six His residues are found to be invariable and two His residues, His-54 and His-411, are found to be highly conserved. First, I have carried out site-directed mutagenesis of these eight conserved histidines in subunit I in the hope that these residues must be involved in ligating the low- and high-spin hemes and Cu_B. Second, to detect the residues which locate in the vicinity of the prosthetic groups, and which involve the enzymatic activity, such as electron-transfer, twelve conserved aromatic amino acid residues were altered. At last, a helix-bundle model of the redox reaction center of the cytochrome bo complex is presented.

Table

Table I-1 Similarities between the terminal oxidases of $E. \ coli$ and mitochondria

	<i>E. coli</i> Cytochrome <i>bo</i> complex	Mitochondrial Cytochrome c oxidase
Substrate	Ubiquinol-8 / O2	Cytochrome c / O2
Number of subunits	5	7—13 (9:yeast, 13:mammals)
Heme group	1 Protoheme IX 1 Heme O	2 Heme a
Copper atom	1 (Сив)	2 (CuA and CuB)
High-spin heme	Yes	Yes
Low-spin heme	Yes	Yes
High-spin heme/Сив binuclear center	Yes	Yes
Proton pumping	Yes	Yes



Figure I-1 Cytochrome *bo* complex is a terminal ubiquinol oxidase of aerobic respiratory chain in *E. coli*



Figure I-2. Subunit I of the cytochrome *bo* complex acts as a redox reaction center.

1	20	40	09	80	100
			6.		
in another of the second of	and and an and a measure were	a a constant a complete south a state	and and a state of the state of	to the tot the operation that have a state of the state o	0
UN W++NUNNOCTUT	HEFT VMVT I NOT I LOG LAL	NGLITYEGKWIYLWKEWL	ISVDHKKLGIMIIIVAIV	MLLKGE AD A LMMKSQQALASAGEAGE	PLAXAXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
TTTCCWVTV W SE	*******************	TNAT TEKRTRGSMI, WD YI	PSUDHKKTATI.VI.VAGGF	FELVEGTEAMETTOLAKPENAFL.**	A PLATA PLATA DO PLATA DO PLATA DA VIENDA DA VIENDA DA VIENDA VIE
PS ************	*********	*STIARKKGVGAVLWDYL7	LTVDHKKIAHLYLISGGF	FFLLGGLEALFIRIQLAKPNNDFLV	*********************
HT M********* DE	*******ATSAAAHGDHA	QDHGHDEHAHPTGWRRYV	YSTNHKDIGTMYLIFAVI	AGVIGAAMSIAIRAELMYPGVQIF*'	******************HETHLTNVFVTSHGL
PD M**********	************	AQISDSIEEKRGFFTRWFN	ASTNHKDIGVLYLFTAGL	AGLISVTLTVYMRMELQHPGVQYM*(CLEGMRLVADAAAECTPNAHLWNVVVTYHGI
SC M**********	***********	LTMADA**********	YSTNAKDIAVLYFMLAIF	SGMAGTAMSLIIRLELAAPGSQYL*'	****************HGNSOLFNULUNGHAV
SP M********* 42	*******	HWMULLNNSN******	STNAKDIAMTYLLFGLV	SGMIGSVFSFMIRMETSAPGSQF***	**************************************
AN ***LIIDLNTNN	VLGKKFSTSTKKENIKQIE	SSSFLTFKQPTEWQERWYI	USSNAKDIGTLYLMFALF:	SGLLGTAF SVLIRLELSGPGVQY1**	ITAHAIISUYIQNULA************************************
NC LFIRYVTIIKT.	I I LF NOLNSEEFGLSLNSS!	KRSVGLMSSISIWTERWFI	USTNAKDIGVLYLIFALF.	SGLLGTAFSVLIRMELSGPGVQY1**	**************************************
CR M**********	*******	XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX	YSTSHKDIGLLYLVFAFF	GGLLGTSLSMLIRYELALPGRGLL**	I5H5LIIANATOSNOG*****************
WH M******** HM	*********	**************	STNHKDIGTLYFIFGAL	AGVMGTCFSVLIRMELARPGDQIL*'	******************GGNHQLYNVLITAHAF
ZM M********	*********	***************	STNHKDIGTLYFIFGAI	AGVMGTCFSVLIRMELARPGDQIL**	*****************GGNHQLYNVLITAHAF
SO M*********** OS	*********	*************	STNHKDIGTLYFIFGAL	AGVMGTCF SVLIRMELARPGDQIL*	****************GGNHQLYNVLITAHAF
SB M**********	********	**************	STNHKDIGTLYFIFGAL	AGVMGTCFSVLIRMELARPGDQIL**	****************GGNHQLYNVLITGHAF
OB M**********	**********	***************	STNHKDIGTLYFIFGAL	AGVMGTCFSVLIRMELARPGDQIL**	****************GONHQLYNVLITAHAF
TB M********* BT	***********	************ELCLVCI	SVSHKMIGICYLLVAIL	CGFIGYIYSLFIRLELSLIGCGUL**	**************************************
TT M******** TT	******	*************	"SVSHKMIGLCYLLVAIL	SGFVGYVYSLFIRLELSLIGCGIL**	******************BDXOEXNTITSHGD
TE ******DFIEQ	TKSFKUSUNNYFYNKIKK	TLFTYLNDRLRKHILKKYVY	UTNNHKRIAINYLYFSMU	TGLSGAALATMIRMELAHPESPFFK'	****************GDSTRYLQVVTAHGL
PR ********** AT	*********	**************	**INHKRIALNYFYFSMW	TGLSGAALATMIRLEMAYPGSPFFK*	**************************************
DM M******** MG	**********	**************SROWLE	STNHKDIGTLYFIFGAW	AGMVGTSLSILIRAELGHPGALI***	**************************************
DY M*********	**********	***********SRQWLF	STNHKDIGTLYFIFGAW	AGMVGTSLSILIRAELGHPGALI***	***************GDDQIYNVIVIAHAF
SU M********* US	**********	***********QLSRWLE	STNHKDIGTLYLIFGAW	AGMVGTAMSVIIRAELAQPGSLL***	****************NDDQIYNVVVTAHAL
XL M******** UX	**********	******************	STNHKDIGTLYLVFGAW	AGLVGTALSLLIRAELSQPGTLL***	****************GDDQIYNVIVTAHAF
WS M******** SM	****	************EINEWLE	STNHKDIGTLYLLFGAM	AGMVGTALSILIRAELGQPGALL***	****************GDDQIYNVIVTAHAF
RA M*********	**************	************	STNPKDIGTLYLLFGAM	AGMVGTALSILIRAELGQLGALL***	****************GDDQIYNVLVTAHAF
BV M*********	**********	HININI A************	STNHKDIGTLYLLFGAW	AGMVGTALSLLIRAELGQPGTLL***	*****************GDDQIYNVVTAHAF
HU M*********	*****	HIMNOUX***********	STNHKDIGTLYLLFGAM	AGVLGTALSLLIRAELGQPGNLL***	****************GNDHIYNVIVTAHAF
			Vj= 2533762467475	744838874 .	Vj= •65635125

	120	140	160	180	200		220
	. 11					Ţ	
EC	IMIFFVAMPFVI*GLMNLVVPLOIGA	ARDVAFPFLNNLSFWFTVVG	VILVNVSLGVGEFAOTG*****WL	AYPPLSGIEYSPGVGVDYWIW	SLOLSGIGTTLI	GINFEVTILA	MRAPGMTMFKN
HH	TMLFLFGTPMIAA*FGNYFIPLLIDA	ADDMAFPRINALAFWLLPPG	AILI***WSGFLIPGIATAOTSWT	TWYTPLSLOMSSPAVDMMMLGL	HLTGVSATMGAI	NFIATIFTER	GEDVGWPDLD*
BS	TMIFLAAMPLLFA*LMNAVVPLOIGA	ARDVSFPFLNALGFWLFFFG	31FLNLSWFLGGPPDAG*****WT	TSYASLSLHSK**GHGIDFSIL	GLOISGLGTLIP	GINFLATIIN	IMRAPGMTYMRI
SA	TMIFLAAMPLV*FAFMNAVVPLOIGA	ARDVAFPELNALGEWMEFEG	3LFLNCSWLFGGAPDAG*****WT	TSYASLSLDSK*AHHGIDFYTL	GLQISGFGTIMG	AINFLUTII	IMRAPGMTEMRN
BJ	IMIFFMUMPAMIGGFGNWFVPLMIGA	APDMAF PRMNNISFWLLPAS	FGLLLMSTFVEGEPGANGVGAGWT	TMYVPLSSSGH*PGPAVDFAIL	SLHLAGASSILG	AINFITTER	IMRAPGMTLHKN
PD	LMMFF VVIPALFGGFGNYFMPLHIGA	APDMAF PRLNNLS YWLYVCG	VSLAIASLLSPGGSDQPGAGVGWV	/LYPPL*STTE*AGYAMDLAIF	AVHVSGATSILG	AINITTEL	IMRAP GMTLFKV
SC	IMIFFLVMPALIGGFGNYLLPIMIGA	ATDTAFPRINNIAFWULPMG	LVCLVTSTLVESGAGTG*****WT	CVYPPLSSIQAHSGPSVDLAIF	ALHLTSISSLLG	AINFIVITLA	IMRTNGMTMHKI
SP	TMIFFFIIPALFGAFGNYLVPTMMGA	APDVAYPRVNNFTFWLTPPA	TMTLLISALTEEGPGGG4****WT	TVYPPTSSITSHSGPAIDTAIL	SLQLTGISSTLG	SVNLMATMIN	MRAPGLSLYOM
AN	MMIFEMUMPALIGGEGNFLLPLLVGG	SPDMAFPRLNNI SFWLLVPS	LLLFVFSATIENGAGTG*****WT	TLYPPLSGIQSHSGPSVDLAIF	GLHLSGISSMLG	AMNFITILA	MRSPGIRLHKL
NC	LMIFFMVMPALIGGFGNFLLPLLVGG	3PDMAFPRLNNISFWLLPPS	LLLLVFSACIEGGAGTG****WT	TIYPPLSGVQSHSGPSVDLAIF	ALHLSGVSSLLG	SINFITIVI	MRTPGIRLHKL
CB	IMLLEMVMPALEGGEGNWLLPINIGA	APDNAFPRLNNISFWLNPPA.	LALLLSTLVEQGPGTG*****WT	TAYPPLS*VO*HSGTSVDLAIL	SLHLNGLSSILG	AVNMLVTVAG	LRAPGMKLLHM
MH	LMIFFMVMPAMIGGEGNWFVPILIGA	APDMAFPRLNNISFWLLPPS	LLLLLSSALVEVGSGTG*****WT	TVYPPLSGITSHSGGAVDLAIF	SLHLSGISSILG	SINFITIEN	MRGPGMTMHRL
ZM	LMIFFMVMPAMIGGFGNWFVPILIGA	APDMAFPRLNNI SFWLLPPS	LLLLLSSALVEVGSGTG*****WT	TVYPPLSGITSHSGGAVDLAIF	SLHLSGVSSILG	SINFITIEN	MRGP GMTMHRL
So	LMIFFMVMPAMIGGFGNWFVPILIGA	APDMAFPRLNNISFWLLPPS	LILLLSSALVEVGSGTG*****WT	UVYPPLSGITSHSGGAVDLAIF	SLHLSGVSSILG	SINFITIEN	MRGP GMTMHRL
SB	LMIFFMVMPAMIGGSGNWSVPILIGA	APDMAFPRLNNISFWLLPPS	LLLLLSSALVEVGSGTG*****WT	UVYPPLSGITSHSGGAVDSAIS	SLHLSGVSSILG	SITTISM	MRGPGMTMHRS
OB	LMIFFMVMPAMIGGSGNWSVPILIGA	APDMAFPRLNNISFWLLPPS	LLLLLSSALVEVGSGTG*****WT	TVYPPLSGITSHSGGAVDSAIS	SLHLSGVSSILG	ISITTISNESS	MRGLGMTMHRS
HH	IMVFAFIMPITMGGFTNYFAPVMVGF	PDMVFPRINNMSFWMFIGG	FGCLUSGFLTEEGMGVG****WT	TLYPTLICIDFHSSLACDFIIF	SVHFLGISSILN	SINVVGTIFC	CRRKYFSFLIW
FI	IMVFAFIMPVMMGGLVNYFIPVMAGE	FPDMVFPRLNNMSFWMYLAG	TW******BUGNGVG*****WT	TLYPTLICIDFHSSLACDFVMF.	AVHLLGISSILN	SINLIGTLFC	CRRKFFSFLSW
E	IMVFFUVVPILFGGFANFLIPYHVGS	SKDVAYPRLNSIGFWIOPCG	YILLAKIGFLRTLTTAG*****WT	TTPFSSNIKYTGVGSODILI	LSVVFAGISTTI	SFTNLLITRF	TLAMPGMRHRR
PA	IMVEEVVVPIFFGGFANFLIPYHVGS	SKDVAFPRLNSIGFWIQLLG	SLLVAKIAFLRAAVTAG*****WT	TFITPESSNMKYSGEGAQDVLS	VAVVLAGISTTI	S*LLTLITRE	TLVAPGLRNRR
DM	IMIFFMUMPIMIGGEGNWLUPLMLGA	APDMAF PRMNNMS FWLLPPA	LSLLLVSSMVENGAGTG*****WT	TVYPPLSAGIAHGGASVDLAIF	SLHLAGISSILG	AUNFITUIN	MRSTGISLDRM
DY	IMIFFMUMPIMIGGFGNWLUPLMLGA	APDMAFPRMNNMSFWLLPPA	LSLLLVSSMVENGAGTG*****WT	UYPPLSAGIAHGGASVDLAIF	SLHLAGISSILG	AUNFITUIN	MRSTGISLDRM
SU	WIFFMUMPIMIGGFGNWLIPLMIGA	APDMAFPRMNNMSFWLIPPS!	FILLLASAGVESGAGTG*****WT	TIYPPLSSNIAHAGGSVDLAIF	SLHLAGASSILA	SINFITIIN	MRTPGMSFDRL
XI	IMIFFMUMPIMIGGFGNWLUPLMIGA	APDMAFPRMNNMSFWLLPPS!	FLLLLASSGVEAGAGTG*****WT	TVYPPLAGNLAHAGASVDLTIF	SLHLAGISSILG	AINFITTIN	MKPP AMS QY QT
MS	VMIFFMVMPMMIGGFGNWLVPLMIGA	APDMAFPRMNNMSFWLLPPSI	FLLLLASSMVEAGAGTG*****WT	UYPPLAGNV*HAGASVDLTIF	SLHLAGVSSILG	AINFITIIN	MKPP AMTQYQT
RA	. VMIFEMVMPMMIGGEGNWLVPLMIGA	APDMAFPRMNNMSFWLLPPS!	FLLLLLASSMVEAGAGTG*****WT	TVYPPLAGNLAHAGVSVDLTIF	SLHLAGVSSILG	AINFITIIN	MKPP AMTQYQT
BV	. VMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLMIGA	APDMAFPRMNNMSFWLLPPS!	FLLLLASSMVEAGAGTG*****WT	VYPPLAGNLAHAGASVDLTIF	SLHLAGVSSILG	AINFITIIN	MKPPAMSQYQT
DH	VMIFFMVMPIMIGGFGNWLVPLMIGA	APDMAFPRMNNMSFWLLPPS!	ULLLLASAMVEAGAGTG*****WT	TVYPPLAGNYSHPGASVDLTIF	SLHLAGVSSILG	AINFITIIN	MKPPAMTQYQT
	5142354416643235	•Vj=442146583	78455b37775c	A .	j= 573743555	444L7636	•

		240	260	280	300	320		340
				LEAL			LFAAL	
C H	****DUPPENA CT.	CIT, I.I. AVTWT, TT ST ST T. TWA	TAMMMODULATION	NI.TWAWCHDRUTTI, TUPUF	CUFCETAATFSPKPL,*FGVTS	T.WWATUT CUTAWUT	PTUWI HHPPMA	TAGANT
HH	TWIMSJI****	TOSGLILFAFPLFGSALIMLLLD	RNFGTTFFT*VAGGDPIFWC	HLFWFFGHPEVYVLVLPPM	GIVSLILPKF SGRKL*FGFKF	VVYSTLAIGVLSI	FGUWAHHMFTT	IDPRI
BS	****PLETWTTFV	VASALILIPEPPLTVGLALMMLD	RLEGTNEENPELGGNTVIWE	HLFWIFGHPEVYILILPAF	GIFSEVIPVFARKRL*FGYSS	MVFAIVLIGFLG	TTAMHHWWW	SLGP IN
PS	****PMETWATEV	VTSALILFAFPPLTVGLIFMMMD	RLFGGNFFNPAAGGNTIIWE	HLEWVEGHPEVYILVLPAF	GIFSEIFATFSRKRL*FGYSS	MVFATVLIAFLG	FMUWAHHMFTU	MGP IF
BJ	****PLFVWSIL	VTVFLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD.	RNFGTTFFAPDGGGDPVLFQ	HLFWFFGHPEVYILIDGF	SMISQIVSTFSRKPV*FGYLG	MAYAMVAIGGIGI	FUWWAHHMYTU	MSSAT
PD	****PLFAWAVE	ITAWMILLSLPVLAGGITMLLMD.	RNFGTQFFDPAGGGDPVLYC	HILWFFGHPEVYMLILPGF	GIISHVISTFARKPI*FGYLP	MULAMAAIAFLG	FIVWAHHMYTA	MSLTC
SC	****PLEVWSIE1	ITAFLLLLSLPVLSAGITMLLLD	RNFNTSFFEVAGGGDPILYE	HLEWFFGHPEVYILLIPGF	GIISHVVSTYSKKPV*FGEIS	MVYAMASIGLLG	ELUWSHHMYIV	ILDAD'
SP	****PLFAWAMM	ITSITLTTLPVLAGGLEMLFSD.	RNLNTSFYAPEGGGDPVTYC	HLEWFEGHPEVYILIMPAF	GVVSHIIPSLAHKPI*FGKEG	MTWAMLSIALLG	T.MVWSHHLETV	LUVUIS
AN	****ALEGWAVI	ITAVLLLLSLPVLAGGITMVLTD.	RNFNTSFFEVAGGGDPILFC	HLFWFFGHPEVYILIPGF	311STVIAAGSGKNV*FGYLG	MVYAMMSIGVLGI	FLUWSHHMYTU	EGAGTS
NC	****ALEGWAVV	ITAVLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD.	RNFNTSFFETAGGGDPILFC	HLFWFFGHPEVYILIPGF	GIISTTISAYSNKSV*FGYIG	MUYAMMSIGILG	LT WHH SWAL 3	LUVUIS
CR	****PLEVWAIAI	LTAVLVILAVPVLAAALVMLLTD	RNINTAYFCES ** GDLILYQ	HLFWFFGHPEVYILILPAF	GIVSQVVSFFSQKPV*FGLTG	MICAMGAISLLGI	F IVWAHHMFTU	LOIDIS
HM	****PLEVWSVL	VTAFLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD	RNFNTTFFDPAGGGDPILYQ	HLEWFFGHPEVYILLPGF	3IISHIVSTFSRKPV*FGYLG	MVYAMISIGVLG	FLUWAHHMFTU	LUVUI
WZ	****PLEVWSVLI	VTAFLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD	RNFNTTFFDPAGGGDPILYQ	HLFWFEGHPEVYILIEGF	GIISHIVSTFSRKPV*FGYLG	MUYAMISIGULGH	FLUWAHHMFTU	TOVOT
SO	****PLEVWSVLI	VTAFLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD	RNFNTTFFDPAGGGDPILYQ	HLEWFFGHPEVYILLEGF	GIISHIVSTFSRKPV*FGYLG	MVYAMISIGVLGH	FLUWAHHMFTU	LUVUI
SB	****PLEVWSVPI	VTAFPLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD	RNFNTTFSDPAGGGDPILYO	HLFRFFGHPEVYIPILPGS	SIISHIVSTFSGKPV*FGYLG	MVYAMISIGVLG	FLUWAHHMFTU	TOVOIS
OB	****PLEVWSVL	ATAFPILLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD	RNFNTTFSDPAGGGDPILYO	HLEWFFGHPEVYILLIDGS	GIISHIVSTFSGKPV*FGYLG	MVYAMISIGVLGH	FLUWAHHMFTU	LUVUIS
TB	****TLFIWGALI	LTSILLITLPVLAGGVTLLLCD	RNENTSEYDVVGGGDLVLFQ	HLEWFEGHPEUXIIILEVF	GLUSTI IEVTSFRCV*FSSVA	MIYSMLLISVLGN	MEVWAHHMEVV	SUVUM
LT	**VLSLFIWAAL	ITAILLIITLPVLAGGVTLILCD.	RNENTSFYDVVGGGDLILFQ	HIEWEFGHEEVYIILLEVE	GLISTIVEVIGFRCV*FSTVA	MIYSMILIAILGN	MEVWAHHMEVVO	SUVUMS
E	VLIMPFVTISIF1	LTLRMLATITPVLGAAVIMMAFD	RHWQTTEFEYAYGGDPILSO	HLEWFEGHPEUYULILPTE	GFINMIVPHNNTRRV*ASKHH	MIWAIYUMAYMG	YLVWGHHMYLV(LDHRS
PA	****PFITISLLI	LTLRLLAIVTPILGAAVLMSLMD	RHWQTSFFDFAYGGDPILFQ	HLEWFEGHPEVYILLESF	GVANIVLPFYTMRRM*SSKHH	MIWAVYVMAYMGH	FUUWGHHMYLV	LDHRS
MQ	****PLEVWSVV	ITALLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD.	RNLNTSFFDPAGGGDPILYQ	HLFWFEGHPEVYILIDGF	GMISHIISQESGKKETFGSLG	MIYAMLAIGLLGE	FIVWAHHMETU	TOVOM
λd	****PLEVWSVV	ITALLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD.	RNLNTSFFDPAGGGDPILYO	HLFWFFGHPEVYILLEGF	3MI SHI I SQESGKKETFGSLG	MIYAMLAIGLIGH	FIVWAHHMETU	TOVOW
SU	****PLEVWSVF	VTAFLLLLSLPVLAGAITMLLTD	RNINTTFFDPAGGGDPILFQ	HLEWFFGHPEVYILILPGF	3MI SHVIAHYSGKREPFGYLG	MVYAMIAIGVLGE	FLUWAHHMETU	TOVOW
XL	****PLEVWSVL	ITAVLLLLSLPVLAAGITMLLTD	RNLNTTFFDPAGGGDPVLYQ	HLFWFFGHPEVYILIDGF	SMISHIVTYYSGKKEPFGYMG	MVWAMMS IGLLGE	F IVWAHHME TVI	LUVUL
WS	****PLFUWSVL	ITAVLLLLSLPVLAAGITMLLTD.	RNLNTTFFDPAGGGDPILYQ	HLEWFEGHPEVYILLEGF	GIISHVUTYYSGKKEPFGYMG	MVWAMMSIGFLGI	FIVWAHHMETU	LUVUI
RA	****PLEVWSVL	ITAVLLLLSLPVLAAGITMLLTD.	RNLNTTFFDPAGGGGPILYQ	HLFWFFGHPEVYILLILGF	EIISHUUTYYSGKKEPFGYMG	MUWTMMSIGELGE	FIVWAHHMFTV(LUVUI
BV	****PLEVWSVM	ITAVLLLLSLPVLAAGITMLLTD.	RNLNTTFFDPAGGGDPILYO	HLEWFFGHPEVYILILPGF	3MI SHIVTYYSGKKEPFGYMG	MUWAMMSIGELGE	FIVWAHHMETU	TOVOM:
DH	****PLFUWSVL	ITAVLLLLSLPVLAAGITMLLTD.	RNLNTTFFDPAGGGDPILYQ	HLEWFEGHPEUVILLIGE	3MISHIVTYYSGKKEPFGYMG	MUWAMMS I GF LGI	FIUWAHHMFTU	LUVUM
	Vj= Et	6358434564142443363556	-ĘΛ .	23242111113333262	25427355 Vj=	345347524632	36115113244	F

	360	380	400	420	440	460
				A W A.A		
EC N	AFFGITTMIIAIPTGVKIFNWLFTMY	QGRIVEHS * AMLWTIGFIVTES	VGGMTGVLLAVPGADE	VLHNSLFLIAHFHNVIIGGVVFG	OF AGMTYWWPKAFGFKLNETW	GKRAFWFWIIGFFV
HH HH	SSFMAVSLAISIPSAVKVFNWITTMW BIFSAVAMMAIAIDDCIFIFMMIIIMI	NGKLRLTA*PMLFCIGFVQNFI	IGGVTGVFLAVIPIDI	UILHDTYYVVGHEHEIVYGAIGFAI	LF AAS YYWFPMVTGRMYQKRL	AHAHFWTALVGSNA
A So	ALE AVAINATALIAUPTGUKTENWLETME	GGSIKFTT*PMHYAVAFIPSFV	MGGVTGVMLASAAAD	QYHDSYFVAAHEHYVIVGGVVFAL	ULAGTHYWWPKMFGRMLNETL	GKITEWLEFIGEHL
0 080	AYFVAATMVIAVPTGVKIFSWIATMW	IGGSIEFRA*PMIWAVGFIFLFT	VGGVTGVVLANAGVDF	AVLQETYYVVAHEHYVLSLGAVFA.	IFAGWYYWFPKMTGYMYNETL TEAGWYYWFDKMTGYMYNETL	AKAHFWUTFIGUNL
N L	AYFTSATMILAIPIGIKIFSWLATIY	GGSIRLAT*PMLYAIAFLFLFT	MGGLTGVALANASLDN	AFHDTYYVVGHEHYVLSMGAIFSI	LEA*YYYWSPQILGINYNEKI	AQIQFWLIFIGANV
SP H	AYF SAATMVIAIPTGIKIF SWLATLT AYF TAATLIIAVPTGIKIF SWLATCY	GGAMQWSRVPMLYAIGFLILFT GGSLHLTP*PMLFALGFVVLFT	IGGLTGVMLSNSVLDI	LAFHDTYFVVAHFHYVTSMGALFG JAFHDTYYVVAHFHYVLSMGAVFAI	TCG*AYYWSPKMFGLMYNETT LFSGWYLWIPKLLGLSYDOFA	ASIQFWILFMGVNL AKUHFWILFIGUNL
NC H	AYFTAATLIIAVPTGIKIFSWLATCY	GGSIRLTP * SMLFALGEVEMET	IGGLSGVVLANASLDI	IAFHDTYYVVAHEHYVLSMGAVFAN	AF SGWYHWVPKILGLNYNWVL	SKAQFWLLFIGUNL
CR V	AYETSATMIIAVPTGMKIFSWMATIY	SGRVWFTT*PMWFAVGFICLFT	LGGVTGVVLANAGVDM	1LVHDTYYVVAHEHYVLSMGAVFG]	IF AGVCFWGNL ITGLGYHEGR	AMVHEWLLFIGUNL
HIN F	LAYFTAATMIIAVPTGIKIFSWIATMW	IGGSIQYKT*PMLFAVGFIFLET	IGGLTGIVLANSGLDI	[ALHDTYYVVA HEH YVLSMGAVFA]	LF AGFYYWVGK IFGWTYPETL	GQIHEWITFEGUNL
H L C	AYE TAATMITAVPTGIKIESWIATMW AYETAATMITAVPTGIKIESWIATMW	16GSIQYKT*PMLFAVGELFLET 16GSIOVKT*PMLFAVGELFLET	IGGLTGIVLANSGLDI	LALHDTYYVVA HEH YVLSMGAVEAI LALHDTYYVVVA HEH YVLSMGAVEAI	LFAGFYYWVGKIFGWTYPETL	GQIHFWITEFGUNL.
SB B	AYFTAATMIIAVPTGIKIFSWIATMW	IGGSIQYKT*PMLFAVGFIFLFT	IGGLTGIVLANSGLDI	[ALHDTYYVVAHEHYVLSMGAVEA]	LF AGF HYWVGK IFGRTYPETL	GOIHFWITFFGUNL
OB B	AYFTAATMIIAVPTGVKIFSWIATMW	IGGSIQYKT*PMLFAVGSIFLET	VGGLAGIVPANSGLDI	[ALHDTYYAGAHFHYVLSMGAVFA]	LFAGFRYWVGKIFGWTYPETL	GOIHFWITFEGUNP
TB B	CAYFGSITVLIGLPTCIKLFNWIYSFL	FTDMCICF*EIYFIYMFILMFL	AGGLTGLFLSNVGIDI	[LMHDTYFVVAHEHYVLSLGAVVGV	VEGGFEHELMKWIPIELHTEW	LFFFISTLWEGSNM
ET B	AYFGGVSILIGLPTCVKLFNWIYSFL	YTDMIITE*EVYFVIMEIEMEL	IGAVTGLFLSNVGIDI	(MLHDTYFVVGHEHYVLSLGAVVGE	FFTGF THFLAKWLP IELYLFW	MEYEISTLFIGSNM
E E	UTWYSTITIMISMPATIKVVNWTLSIV	NGALKVDL*PFLFSMSFLLLFL	VAGETGMWLSHVSLNN	/SMHDTFYVVAHEHIMLSGAAITG	IF SGFYYYENALFGIKFSRMF	GYMHLIYYSGGQWV
A WC	ON I STITTMLCLEAT IKLVNWTLTLA DAVETSATMITAUDTGIKIESWIATIH	GTOL SVSD*AILWALGSVELE	TGGF TGMWLSHVGLNJ	LSVHDTFYVVA HEH LMLAGAAMMG/	AFTGLITINTEEDVQISKLE TMACETHWVDI FTGLTTINNKW	GELHLVIISAGIWI.
H XO	LAYFTSATMITAVPTGIKIFSWLATLH	GTOLSYSP*AILWALGEVELFT	VGGLTGVVLANSSVDI	ITLHDTYYVVAHEHYVLSMGAVEA	IMAGE THWYPLF TOLL LOUDEN	TKSHEI IMEIGVNL
SU P	AYFTAATMIIAVPTGLKVFSWMATLQ	GSNLQWET*PLLWALGFVFLFT	LGGLTGIVLANSSIDV	NLHDTYYVVAHFHYVLSMGAVFA]	IF AGE THWEP LFCGYNLHPLW	GKAHF FMMF VGVNL
XL B	LAYFTSATMIIAIPTGVKVFSWLATMH	IGGTIKWDA*PMLWALGFIFLFT	VGGLTGIVLANSSLDI	[MLHDTYYVVAHFHYVLSMGAVFA]	IMGGF IHWFPLFTGYTLHETW	AKIHFGUMFAGUNL
H SW	ACFTSATMIIAIPTGVKVFSWLATLH	GGNIKWSP * AMLWALGFIFLFT	VGGLTGIVLSNSSLDI	IVLHDTYYVVAHEHYVLSMGAVEA	IMAGE VHWEPLFSGFTLDDTW	AKAHFAIMEVGVNM
BV B	AYFTSATMITALFIGVKVFSWLATLH	IGGNIKWSP * AMMWALGFIFLFT	VGGLTGIVLANSSLDI	IVLHDIIIVA HERIV LSMGAVEAL IVLHDIYYVVA HEH YVLSMGAVEAL	IMGGEVHWEPLESGYTLNDTW	ANALE ALME VG VNM
HU H	AYFTSATMIIAIPTGVKVFSWLATLH	IGSNMKWSA*AVLWALGFIFLFT	VGGLTGIVLANSSLDI	IVLHDTYYVVAHEHYVLSMGAVFA)	IMGGF IHWFPLFSGYTLDQTY	AKIHFTIMFIGUNL
	627642461441344142	 Vj=765337615 	622431462266	A 23244211143453235438	•	Vj= 877561646

FKNSGA FVAAFG EQKEIS LFFYI L K	17
580 KGEAYKKPDHYEEIHM VUDGGQPADSDTES HMNNGSILPLIISFGL AKKN FNTEAVOS PTKSI QSSSFFLSFFRLSSYG QSSSFFLSFFRLSSYG QSSSFFLSFFRLSSYG CSSSFFLSFFRLSSYG AKK ENTFGEVEVFLFFWOAFL CCFCVFYIFFWOAFL CCFCVFYIFFWOAFL	
560 560 CRETTVLPDGGDEAQEADA CRETTVLPDGGDEAQEADA CRETTVLPDGGDEAQEADA CRETTLRYAMPAEPUDI CRETTLRYAMPAEPUDI CRETTLRYAMPAEPULS CRETTLRYAMPAEPULS CRETTLRYAMPAEPULS CRETTLRYSSIE CR	
540 TGDPWGGRTLEWATSSPPPFY P*MJLEETDQFTNDWAWFRA DAWA*DGRTLEWATSSPPPFY DAWA*DGRTLEWATSSPPPFY DAWA*DGRTLEWAYSSPPPFY DAWA*DGRTLEWAYSSPPPFY DAWA*DGRTLEWAYSSPPFY DAWA*DGRTLEWAYSSPPFY DAWA*DGNPFY WLTPQLFSDTFQUFTFNL WLTPQLFSDTFQUFTFNL WLTPQLFSDTFQUFTFNL EWAVENPFTLEWUYQSPP SPWAVENPFTLEWUYQSPP SPWAVENPFTLEWUYQSPP SPWAVENSTERFTERT SPWAVENSTERFTERT SPW	
520 LICLVIQMYYSIRDRDQNRDL LMLFNMATSWREGFRUDSTD UTLLIJUNTWTSYKGEYVGA TVILLIJUNTWTSYKGEYVGA TVILLIJUNTWTSYKGEYVGA TVILLIJUNTWTSYKGEYVGA TVILLIJUNTWTSYKGEYVGA FILLIJUTUYDOFTSYKGEYVGA FRITURDLUNGLAKVANKVAN TEKTUTISSSCHUNKUAT RFFUVALTSSSGKNKRCAE RFFUVALTSSSGKKKCAE RFFUVALTSSSGKKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSGKKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVALTSSKEE RFFUVAL	
900 910 910 910 911 912 912 912 912 912 912 912	
480 480 480 FMPLYALGEMGMTRRLSQOTDP FILDHEVGLMGMTRRLYZDA FETQHFLGLTGMPRRYTYLPH FETQHFLGLTGMPRRYTYLPH FETQHFLGLTGMPRRYTYLPH FETQHFLGLTGMPRRLTYLPYDA FETQHFLGLTGMPRRLTYLPYDA FETQHFLGLTGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLTDYZDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDZ FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDYDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDYDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDYDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDYDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDYDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRLDYZDYDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRYSDYDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRYSDYDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRYSDYDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRYSDYDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRYSDYDDA FETPHFLGLSGMPRRYSDYDDA	
APP 2012 APP	

660	
640	
620	
600	

GIVIAAFSTIFGFAMIWHIWWLAIVGFAGMIITWIVKSFDEDVDYYVPVAEIEKLENQHFDEITKAGLKNGN LLYRSDYAWGLPVIFIGLGITFITMLLRSVIDDHGYHIHKEELPNDDKGVKA EC GIVIAAFSTI BS LLYRSDYAWG NC GRQNSGRQN

sequences aligned are : Escherichia coli (Chepuri, et al. 1990a), Halobacterium halobium (Denda, et al. Deletions are shown as *. The His residues and aromatic amino acid residues altered in this study are Figure I-3. Sequence alignment of subunit I of the heme-copper oxidase superfamily. The amino acid Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Bonitz, et al. 1980), Saccharomyces pombe, Aspergillus nidulans (Waring, wheat, maize (Isaac, et al. 1985), Sorghum bicolor milo. Soy bean (Grabau 1986), Oenothera bercerius (982), and human (Anderson, et al. 1981)] sequences. The numbering refers to the E. coli sequence. Cantatore, et al. 1989), Xenopus laevis (flog) (Roe, et al. 1985), mouse, rat, bovine (Anderson, et al. et al. 1984), Neurospora crassa (Burger, et al. 1982), Chlamidomonas reinhardi (Boer, et al. 1985), (evening primrose) (*Hiesel*, et al. 1987), *Trypanosoma brucei* (*Hensgens*, et al. 1984), *Leishmania* melanogaster (fruit fly) (De Bruijn 1983), Drosophila yakuba, Paracentrotus lividus (sea urchin) tarentolae. Tetrahymena pyriformis. Paramecium aurelia (Pritchard, et al. 1986), Drosophila 1992), Bacillus subtilis (Saraste, et al. 1991b), thermophilic bacillus PS3 (Ishizuka, et al. 1990), Bradyrhizobium japonicum (Bott, et al. 1990), Paracoccus denitrificans (Holm, et al. 1987). marked by 'A', and 'L', 'F', or'W'

Chapter II. Experimental Procedures

of the apper sectors, Feither and Curicy mere southed from the medium. For complementation term during mechan provide DM motional medium (Danie and Mirgole 1985) was used. Where indicated, Hereic) glosses of glosses at plasmid DMA. Furthle Broch was used thereic and ri-1999). When cells, ware cultured, under account fit conditions, society, where was added at 40 million as a terminal sharters acceptor. Ampletilla, was hidden at 205 append the contemport from at 16 append the main fit plasmed. The contemport of size applied the main fit

Rocarrol Siraine

A coll stypic GCS1 (Hanahan 1953) was used for mandari plassific ministion and propagation. Strain TG1 was obtained from Amerokany Co. and used for production of single-strated ONAs of phagemid pCTOT2 and its derivatives, which ware ared as the templates for objectuationide directed mategements. The readed doubte deletion boutant 57 2550 was constructed as follows. First

Media

For preparation of cytoplasmic membranes, E. coli cells were grown in a rich medium [0.68 %(w/v) Bacto Yeast extract (DIFCO), 0.13 %(w/v) Bacto Casamino acids (DIFCO, technical), 1.3 mg/ml sodium citrate, 2.7 mg/ml (NH₄)₂SO₄, 12.0 mg/ml K₂HPO₄, 1 mM MgSO₄, 1 %(w/v) glycerol, 10 µg/ml FeSO₄, and 5 µg/ml CuSO₄]. For analysis of the copper content, FeSO4 and CuSO4 were omitted from the medium. For complementation tests during aerobic growth, DM minimal medium (Davis and Mingioli 1959) was used. Where indicated, 1% (w/v) glucose or glycerol was added as a carbon source. For large-scale preparation of plasmid DNA, Terrific Broth was used (Sambrook et al. When cells were cultured under anaerobic 1989). conditions, sodium nitrate was added at 40 mM as a terminal electron accepter. Ampicillin was added at 100 µg/ml (for multi-copy plasmids), or 15 µg/ml (for mini-F plasmids). The concentrations of other antibiotics were used as described (Sambrook et al. 1989)

Bacterial Strains

E. coli strain SCS1 (Hanahan 1983) was used for standard plasmid selection and propagation. Strain TG1 was obtained from Amersham Co. and used for production of single-strand DNAs of phagemid pCYOF2 and its derivatives, which were used as the templates for oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis. The *cyo cyd* double deletion mutant ST2592 was constructed as follows: First, the Δcyd ::Km^r locus was transduced into the wild-type strain W3110 (Bachmann 1987) by P1 phage grown on strain GO103 (Oden *et al.* 1990). Second, the Δcyo ::Cm^r locus of ST4674 (Nakamura *et al.* 1992) was transduced into the resultant strain, ST2590, to obtain strain ST2591. Acquisition of the double mutation was confirmed on a DM minimal plate containing 1 %(w/v) glucose or glycerol. Strain ST2591 did not grow aerobically on glycerol, but grew on glucose. Finally, the *recA* mutation was transduced from strain NK6659 (Hfr *srlA*::Tc^r *recA ilv thi thr relA spc*) (Murakami *et al.* 1984). Strain ST4700 (W3110 Δcyo ::Cm^r / pACT7-I9) carrying the pCYOF2 derivatives was used for the expression of mutant genes that were under the control of the T7 promoter (Mogi *et al.* 1992).

Genetic Procedures and DNA Manipulations

Generalized transductions by $P1_{vir}$ phage were done as described (Miller 1972). Restriction enzyme digestion and agarose gel electrophoresis were carried out as described (Sambrook *et al.* 1989). DNA ligation was done using a Ligation kit (Takara Shuzo Co., Kyoto, Japan) according to the recommendations of the supplier. DNA fragments were purified on agarose gel with a GeneClean kit (Bio¹⁰¹). Large and small scale preparations of plasmid DNAs were performed by the alkaline lysis method (Sambrook *et al.* 1989). Oligonucleotide primers for sitedirected mutagenesis and for DNA sequencing were synthesized in a model 381A DNA synthesizer (Applied Biosystems Inc.). Oligonucleotides were purified by denaturing polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis as described (Lo *et al.* 1984).

Introduction of additional restriction sites in the cyoB gene

(A) Constructions of pCYOF4 and pMFO4

Multi-copy phagemid pCYOF4, which contains the unique NheI site in the upstream region of the cyoB gene, has been constructed from a T7 expression vector carrying the f1 replication origin and the intact cyo gene, pCYOF2 (Mogi et al. 1992). It was constructed by site-directed mutagenesis using an In Vitro Mutagenesis system (Amersham Co.) and a primer P-NHE (Table II-1) corresponding to nucleotides 767-792 of the cyoA gene (Fig.II-1). The NheI site was introduced without any change in the amino acid sequence of subunit II and could be used for subcloning the whole cyoB gene from the phagemid into a mini-F plasmid. The nucleotide sequence between the SmaI and SalI sites was confirmed not to have any unexpected change: Only the Lys-253-Leu-254 codons were changed (AAA-CTG to AAG-CTA). Then, the Smal-Sall fragment containing the Nhel site was replaced by the counterpart from wild-type phagemid pCYOF2. The Nsp(7524)V-EcoRI fragment (2.6kb) of mini-F plasmid pMFO1 (Nakamura et al. 1992) that carries the F-prime-derived replication origin was then replaced by the corresponding region of pCYOF4. The resultant single copy plasmid, pMFO4, which contains the unique NheI site, was used as a wild-type control of the cyo operon in the study of histidine replacements.

(B) Constructions of pCYOF9 and pMFO9

To facilitate site-specific mutagenesis and sequencing at any desired segment of the cyoB gene, "cassette mutagenesis" was performed. To construct system for cassette mutagenesis, several unique restriction sites were introduced in the cyoB gene without any codon change (Table II-1). Phegemid pCYOF5, pCYOF6, pCYOF7, and pCYOF8 were made to carry additional ApaI, MluI, XhoI, and Eco81I sites by similar method used for the introduction of Nhe I site into pCYOF2 (Table II-1), following which one of two *Hin*dIII sites was excluded. The resultant phagemid pCYOF9 were confirmed not to carry any codon change (Fig. II-1). AflII-SplI fragment of pCYOF9 was then introduced in the corresponding region of pMFO4. The resultant single copy plasmid, pMFO9, contains six unique restriction sites, NheI, ApaI, MluI, *XhoI*, *Eco*81I, and *HindIII*, which was used as a wild-type control in the study of replacements of the conserved aromatic amino acids.

Site-directed Mutagenesis

(A) Replacements of Conserved His Residues

The cassette mutagenesis procudure performed in this study was as follows: Single strand DNA template for mutagenesis was prepared from phagemid pCYOF4. Sitedirected mutagenesis was done by the method of Taylor *et al.* (Taylor *et al.* 1985). The reagents and enzymes for the reaction were obtained from Amersham Co. The DNA sequences of the SalI-PstI fragment (for the I-H54A² and I-H106A mutants) and the AflII-SplI fragment (for all other mutants) of pCYOF4 from candidate clones were confirmed to contain the desired codon change by direct plasmid sequencing (Zhang et al. 1987) via the dideoxy method (Sanger et al. 1977). The mutagenized fragments were then introduced into their counterparts of the wild-type gene, and mutations in the resulting constructs were further confirmed by DNA sequencing.

(B) Replacements of conserved aromatic amino acid residues

Site-directed mutations at the conserved aromatic amino acid residues were introduced using the same procudure as used for the His-mutagenesis. Nucleotide sequences of the SalI-PstI fragment (for the I-Y61F, F112L, and F113L mutants), the AflII-ApaI fragment (for the F208L mutant), the ApaI-XhoI fragment (for the W280L, W282F, and Y288L mutants), the XhoI-MluIfragment (for the F328L, W331L, and F336L mutants), or the MluI-Eco81I fragment (for the F348L and F415W

²Designations of mutants are based on standard one-letter abbreviations for amino acids. Thus, "I-H54A" signifies the mutant in which the histidine at position 54 in subunit I has been replaced by alanine: in some figures this mutant is simply expressed as "H54A".
mutants) of the candidate clones was confirmed to contain the desired codon change by direct plasmid sequencing. Then, the mutant fragments were introduced into their counterparts of the wild-type gene, and mutations on the resulting constructs were further confirmed by DNA sequencing.

Preparation of Cytoplasmic Membranes and Purification of Mutant Enzymes

Mutant enzymes encoded by pCYOF4 derivatives were expressed in ST4700 in the T7 polymerase / T7 promoter system (Mogi et al. 1992, see Fig. II-2). Cytoplasmic membranes were prepared by the method of Yamato et al. (Yamato et al. 1975) with slight modifications. Spheroplasts were disrupted by two passages through a French press (1000 kg/cm²). Total membrane vesicles were precipitated by centrifugation (140,000 x g, 1 h). Then, the membrane vesicles suspended in 3 mM sodium EDTA (pH 8.0) were subjected to isopycnic sucrose density gradient centrifugation. The dialysis step was omitted. Mutant enzymes were solubilized with sucrose monolaurate (Mitsubishi-Kasei Food Co., Tokyo), and separated from all other cytochromes present in the cytoplasmic membrane by HPLC on DEAE-5PW (Tosoh Co., Tokyo, see Mogi et al. 1992).

Complementation Test for Aerobic Growth

Since the phagemid vector pCYOF4 has many copies in a cell, it is required to exclude multi-copy suppression effect to examine the ability of the mutant enzyme to complement for aerobic growth. The mutagenized regions on pCYOF4 were excised by *NheI* and *SphI* enzymes, and introduced in the corresponding region of pMFO4. The mini-F plasmids carrying these mutant regions were transfected into the terminal oxidasedeficient strain ST2592 (W3110 $\Delta cyo::Cm^r \Delta cyo::Km^r$ *recA*). Transformants were obtained on LB-ampicillin plates under anaerobic conditions in sealed jars (Gas-Pack Anaerobic System; BBL Microbiology Systems, Cockeysville, MD) and then grown aerobically on minimal-glycerol and minimal-glucose plates at 37°C for 2 days (Fig. II-3).

Optical Spectroscopy

Measurements of the dithionite-reduced minus airoxidized difference spectra of cytochromes at 77K, and the CO plus reduced minus reduced difference spectra (CObinding difference spectra) at room temperature were performed with a UV-3000 dual wavelength spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Co., Kyoto) as described previously (Kita et al. 1984). Digital outputs were recorded in a PC-286VS computer (Epson Co., Tokyo) using a program written by the author using a subroutine kindly provided by Dr. Matsuura (Tokyo Metropolitan University), and transferred to a Macintosh IIC x computer (Apple Computer Inc., Cupertino, CA). The digital data were processed and analyzed in the Macintosh computer using a software Igor (WaveMetrics, Lake Oswego, OR). The amount of cytochrome o was calculated from the CO-binding difference spectra at a wavelength

pair of 416-430 nm using a value for the molar extinction coefficient of 254,000 cm⁻¹ (Mogi *et al.* 1992).

EPR Spectroscopy

The cytoplasmic membranes used for EPR analysis were prepared as for the optical spectroscopy. EPR samples were prepared just prior to use. First, membranes were suspended in 50 mM TES buffer (pH7.0). In order to oxidize samples, then, 5 μ L of 5 mM TMPD and 1 μ L of 100 mM ammonium persulfate (freshly prepared) were added to the suspension. This sample was vortexed briefly and transferred to liquid nitrogen after freezing in a mixture of 5:1 isopentane:methylcyclohexane in a liquid nitrogen bath.

The EPR spectrum was recorded using Bruker ESP300 ESR spectrometer equiped at University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, U.S.A. Spectra of oxidized samples were taken under the following conditions: Modulation frequency, 100kHz; modulation amplitude, 10.238G; time constant, 163.84 ms; sweep time, 335.544 s; center field, 2100 G; sweep width, 4000 G; frequency, 9.45 GHz; and power, 5.02 mW.

Other methods

Copper content was determined by atomic absorption analysis using a Perkin-Elmer 370 or Shimadzu AA-640 atomic absorption spectrophotometer. The output signals were calibrated by running standards of Cu (ranging from 0.02 to 0.4 ppm). Ubiquinol-1 oxidase activities were assayed as described (Kita *et al.* 1984). Protein concentration was determined by the BCA method (Smith et al. 1985) with bovine serum albumin as a standard. SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was done essentially by the method of Laemmli (1970). Western immunoblotting was performed by the method of Towbin et al. (1979) with the following modifications. Filters were blocked with Tris-buffered saline (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, and 150 mM NaCl) containing 0.05% Tween 20 and 1 % bovine serum albumin for 1 h at room temperature. Primary antibodies on the filter were detected by incubation with alkaline phosphataseconjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratory), and staining with 330 ug/ml nitro blue tetrazolium and 165 ug/ml 5-bromo-4chloro-3-indolyl phosphate in 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 9.5, 100 mM NaCl, and 5 mM MgCl2. Anti-subunit I and antisubunit II sera were kindly provided by Dr. Kita (University of Tokyo).

Materials

Restriction endonucleases and other enzymes for DNA manipulation were purchased from Takara Shuzo or New England BioLabs. Modified T7 DNA polymerase and sequencing reagents were from United States Biochemical Co. Isopropyl thio- β -D-galactopyranoside was from Nova Chemicals. [α -32P]dCTP (111 TBq/mmol) was from ICN Radiochemicals. Sep-Pak C18 cartridges were from Millipore Co. Triethylammonium bicarbonate was purchased from Wako Chemicals, Kyoto. Other chemicals were commercial products of analytical grade.

Tables

Table II-1 Oligonucleotides used for the introduction of unique restriction sites in the *cyoB* gene.

		Mutagenic Primer	Restriction Site
P-NHE	3'-	792 GCAAGCTTTT <u>CGATCG</u> GCGCGGATCG-5 '	insert NheI
P-HND	3'-	1437 TGTTGAATTCAAAGACCAAAT-5	delete HindIII
P-APA	3'-	1650 ACTTCTACGOCCGGGGCCCGTACT-5'	insert ApaI
P-XHO	3'-	1921 TTGGAAGAGCTCCTTTGCAGACA-5'	insert XhoI
P-MLU	3'-	2040 TGCATTTGCGCAAGAAACCAT-5'	insert MluI
P-E81	3'-	2328 CCACC <u>GGATTCC</u> GCAAGCCAA-5"	insert Eco811

Table II-2Oligonucleotides used for site-directedmutagenesis of conserved His residues in subunit I

Mutant	Mutagenic oligonucleotide a	Codon change
I-H54A	3'-AGGCAGCTG CG ATTTGCGGAG-5'	CAT→GCT
I-H106A	3'-AAATGGCGCCCGCACTAA-5'	CAC→GCC
I-H106Q	3'-AATGGCGCGTCCCGCACTAAT-5'	CAC→CAG
I-H106M	3'-GAAATGGCGCTACCCGCACTAAT-	·5'CAC→ATG
I-H284A	3'-CGGACCCCGCGAGGCCTTCAA-5'	CAC→GCT
I-H284Q	3'-GGACCCCG <u>GTC</u> GGCCTTCAAA-5'	CAC→CAG
I-H284M	3'-CCGGACCCCG TAC GGCCTTCAAA-	5'CAC→ATG
I-H333A	3'-GCAAACCGAC <u>CGG</u> GTGAAGAAA-5	' CAC→GCC
I-H334A	3'-AACCGACGTG <u>CGG</u> AAGAAATGC-5	' CAC→GCC
I-H411A	3'-AAGCAAGACCCGATTGTCGGAC-5'	CAT→GCT
I-H419A	3'-GGACTAACGC <u>CGG</u> AAGGTATTG-5	' CAC→GCC
I-H421A	3 '-ACGCGTGAAG <u>CGA</u> TTGCACTAG-5	' CAT→GCT
I-H421Q	3'-GCGTGAAG <u>GTC</u> TTGCACTAGT-5'	CAT→CAG
I-H421M	3'-ACGCGTGAAG TAC TTGCACTAGT-	·5'CAT→ATG

^aSequences of mutagenic primers complementary to the *cyoB* sense strand used to replace His codons at given positions. In each case, the mutagenized codon is underlined, and the nucleotides changed are shown in **boldface** type.

Table II-3Oligonucleotides used for site-directedmutagenesis of conserved aromatic amino acids in subunit I

Mutant	Mutagenic oligonucleotide ^a	Codon change
- 1/(17)		
I-Y61F	3'-CCATAGTACAAATAGTAGCAC-5'	TAT ->TTT
I-F112L	3'-AATACTAG <u>AAC</u> AAGCACCGCT-5'	TTC→TTG
I-F113L	3'-TACTAGAAGAACCATCGCTAC-5'	TTC→TTG
I-F208L	3'-CCATAGTTGAACAAGCAATGG-5'	TTC→TTG
I-W280L	3'-TTGGACTAAAACCGGACCCCG-5'	TGG→TTG
I-W282F	3'-AAACCCGGAAACCGACTAACGCG-	-5'TGG→TTT
I-Y288L	3'-CTTCAAAACTAGGACTAGG-5'	TAC→TTG
I-F328L	3'-CACGACAGCAACTAGCAAACC-5'	TTC→TTG
I-W331L	3'-AAGTAGCAAAACGACGTGGTG-5'	TGG→TTG
I-F336L	3'-GTGGTGAAGAACTGCTACCCA-5'	TTT→TTG
I-F348L	3'-TGCGCAAGAACCCATAGTGGT-5'	TTT→TTG
I-F415W	3'-TTGTCGGACACCGACTAACGCG-5	' TTC→TGG

 a Sequences of mutagenic primers complementary to the cyoB sense strand used to replace aromatic amino acids at given positions. In each case, the mutagenized codon is underlined, and the nucleotides changed are shown in boldface type.



Figure II-1 Physical map of the *cyo* operon in vector pCYOF4 and pCYOF9. The restriction sites artificially introduced are marked by asterisks. The *SacI* site was introduced by subcloning of the operon. The *NheI*, *ApaI*, *XhoI*, *MluI*, and *Eco*81I sites, designed for subcloning, were introduced via site-directed mutagenesis without any amino acid change. One of the *Hind*III sites locating between the *PstI* and *AflII* sites was deleted via site-directed mutagenesis (pCYOF9). The approximate coding regions of the *cyoABCDE* genes are shown by open rectangles.



Figure II-2 Mutagenesis and expression of the mutants. Mutant enzymes encoded by pCYOF4 derivatives were expressed in ST4700 in the T7 polymerase / T7 promoter system.





Chapter III. Replacements of the Conserved His Residues

this and it is a state of the second state of

Introduction

Biochemical Properties

The cytochrome bo complex in E. coli has been extensively studied biochemically, biophysically, and genetically (Anraku and Gennis 1987). Several purification protocols of the enzyme have been reported (Kita et al. 1984, Matsushita et al. 1984, Puustinen et al. 1991, Minghetti et al. 1992, Mogi et al. 1992). The preparation of Kita et al. (1984) is reported to have two subunits which contains two protoheme IXs and two equivalents of copper. Matsushita et al. (1984) described a four-subunit enzyme which contained two protoheme IXs. Puustine and Wikströme (1991) also purified a foursubunit oxidase, which has only one equivalent of copper, presumably CuB, and in that they identified a novel heme, heme O, in the place where formerly protoheme IXs are believed to be locate. Minghetti et al. (1992) and Mogi et al. (1992) each described a five-subunit preparation as well as those of four-subunit, both of which contain two heme groups and one equivalent of copper. Mogi et al. (1992) as well as Puustine and Wikstöme detected the heme O in the purified enzyme, but the former also detected protoheme IX at equal stoichiometry to heme O. Hence, despite the the existence of heme O is established, the heme composition of this enzyme is still controversial.

Genetical Aspects

Mutant deficient in the cytochrome bo complex has been isolated (Au et al. 1985), which have lesions in a locus that mapped at 10.2 minutes on the *E. coli* genetic linkage map (Bachmann 1987). The genes encoding the enzyme were cloned (Chepuri et al. 1990a, Nakamura et al. 1990), and sequenced (Chepuri et al. 1990a), and consequently five open reading frames, cyoABCDE, have been identified. The products of the cyoA and cyoB genes were assigned immunologically to be subunit II and I, respectively (Nakamura et al. 1990). Minghetti et al. (1992) confirmed the identities of subunits I, II and III as the cyoB, cyoA, and cyoC gene products, respectively, by partial amino acid sequence data.

The deduced amino acid sequences of the cyo genes indicates that there is a significant relationship between the subunit I, II, and III of *E. coli* and three of the subunits present in aa_3 -type cytochrome c oxidases of mitochondria and aerobic bacteria, in that 40 % of the amino acids are identical over a 550 amino acid overlap (Chepuri *et al.* 1990a). Furthermore, there is clearly a relationship between the cyoD and cyoE gene products and several putative subunits of bacterial cytochrome c oxidases including *P. denitrificans* (Raitio *et al.* 1987) and *B. subtitilis* (Saraste *et al.* 1991b). This relationship could translate into the conservation of prosthetic group ligands, the existence of conserved active sites, and a common mechanism for electron-transfer, oxygen reduction, and proton pumping and electron transfer.

Localization of binding sites of prosthetic groups

In a complicated multi-subunit protein such as cytochrome c oxidase, the localization of the binding sites for the prosthetic groups would appear hopeless. However, the problem is simplified by two facts. First, the isolation of the enzyme from bacterial sources localized the redox centers in the two largest subunits, subunit I and subunit II. It has recently been experimentally determined that subunit I of the cytochrome c oxidases from P. denitrificans contains two a-type hemes and CuB (Müller et al. 1988a and 1988b). If the ligands of these prosthetic groups are conserved between E. coli and the aa3-type oxidases, we expect that subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex will contain all three of its prosthetic groups-two b-type hemes and CuB. Subunit II of the aa3-type oxidases has been proposed to contain the binding site for the CuA group associated with these oxidases (Stevens et al. 1982). However, since CuA is absent in the cytochrome bo complex, we anticipate that subunit II does not ligate any of the prosthetic groups found in the cytochrome bo complex.

Second, the identification of the highly conserved residues in subunit I and II may offer a simple way to try to identify heme and copper binding sites. Because of the extensive similarity between the cytochrome *bo* complex and the cytochrome c oxidase, we anticipate that these enzymes share a sequence-based catalytic core. Since conserved Cys residues are not found in subunit I but are present in subunit II, the latter subunit appears as an obvious candidate for binding Cu_A. On the other hand, only two strictly invariable histidines are present on subunit II, which are sufficient for the coordination of Cu_A only; the remaining copper and the hemes must therefore be placed in subunit I where six conserved histidines are present.

Ligands of Prosthetic groups

Cytochrome c oxidases have been extensively studied from both plant and animal mitochondria, as well as from many bacterial sources. The oxidases most intensively studied to date are the beef heart oxidase and the bacterial *aa*₃-type oxidase from *P. denitrificans*. The prosthetic group contained in these oxidases are two heme a groups and at least two copper atoms referred to as CuA and Cu_B, which are considered to be responsible for its catalytic and spectroscopic properties. The different nomenclature is due to the different chemical environments where they are located and to the different properties which, consequently, they exhibit. The heme a3-Cu_B couple, the binuclear center, is the site of reduction of oxygen. Spectroscopic data indicate an antiferromagnetic interaction between the heme a3-CuB couple in the oxidized enzyme, which determines the unusual EPR-silent state of Cu_B; for these reasons they are normally considered as a pair rather than independent units. In addition, redox interaction between the low-spin heme and high-spin heme has been detected, possibly through conformational changes, a change in the redox state of one center can perturb the electronic structure of the others as reflected, for example, by modifications in midpoint potentials and subtle alterations in spectral properties.

Spectroscopic studies, such as MCD, EXAFS, and ENDOR studies of the aa_3 -type cytochrome c oxidase indicate that heme a is bound through two His residues (Babcock et al. 1981, Eglinton et al. 1984), heme a3 by one His residue (Blokzijl-Homan and Gelder 1971, Stevens and Chan 1981), and Cu_R by three His residues (Cline et al. 1983. Li et al. 1987, Scott et al. 1988). The fourth ligand of Cu_B is thought to form a bridge to heme a_3 . The identity of the fourth ligand is still controversial (Capaldi 1990). Since the E.coli cytochrome bo complex belongs to the hemecopper oxidase superfamily together with the aa3-type cytochrome c oxidase (Gennis 1991), at least three His residues probably function as heme ligands and the other three His residues are involved in binding of CuB, which is electronically coupled to the high-spin heme. To test these possibilities, I carried out oligonucleotide-directed sitespecific mutageneses of the eight conserved histidines and examined spectroscopic properties and copper contents of the mutant oxidases. Resonance Raman spectroscopy (Uno et al. 1985) and EPR studies (Hata et al. 1985, Salerno et al. 1990) have suggested that the high-spin heme has at least one axial ligand (proximal ligand) and that the lowspin heme has two axial ligands. The crystal field parameters of the low spin heme from EPR spectra showed bis-histidine ligation of the low spin heme (Salerno et al. 1990. Haltia and Wikström 1992). The identity of the ligand of the high-spin heme remains uncertain, although a His residue has been found in most other heme proteins as the proximal ligand.

The aim of this study

I have carried out site-directed mutagenesis of eight conserved histidines in subunit I in the hope that these residues must be involved in ligating the low- and highspin hemes and Cu_B. I found that His-106 and -421 function as the axial ligands of the low-spin heme and His-284 is a possible ligand of the high-spin heme. His-333, -334, and -419 residues are attributed to the ligands of Cu_B.

Results

Mutagenesis of conserved His residues in subunit I

Of twenty His residues in subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex, six His residues, His-106, -284, -333, -334, -419, and -421, were found to be invariable in aa_3 -type cytochrome c oxidases of mitochondria and aerobic bacteria (Table III-1) and to be located in the transmembrane regions II, VI, VII, and X (Fig. III-1). Two other histidines, His-54 and -411 are conserved except in fungal oxidases (Bonitz *et al.* 1980, Burger *et al.* 1982, Waring *et al.* 1984) and Bradyrhizobium japonicum oxidase (Bott *et al.* 1990), respectively, and located in the putative hydrophilic loops 0-I and IX-X, respectively. Of possible heme-ligand residues other than histidine (Met, Tyr, Lys, and Cys), only Lys-55, Tyr-61, Met-110, Tyr-288, and Lys-362 are conserved (Fig. III-1).

The possible roles of these histidines as ligands of the low-spin and high-spin hemes and copper atom were tested by amino acid substitutions. Using oligonucleotidedirected site-specific mutagenesis, I have introduced single codon changes for replacement of these eight histidines by an Ala residue. His-106, -284, and -421 residues were also changed to glutamine and methionine. Residues with a small neutral side-chain such as alanine can be buried in a bundle of membrane-spanning helices. The Gln residue is similar in side-chain volume and hydrophobicity to the His residue, and the Met residue may act as an alternative ligand for the. For instance, The Met residue acts as an axial ligand of soluble cytochrome b_{562} in *E. coli* (Lederer *et al.* 1981) and mitochondrial cytochrome *c* (Bushnell *et al.* 1990).

The nucleotide sequences of restriction fragments containing His codon changes were confirmed by direct plasmid sequencing, and the fragments were then introduced in place of their wild-type counterparts in the *cyo* operon. Directional cloning of the fragments was accomplished by choosing the unique SalI-PstI fragment (0.2 kb) for His-54 and His-106 mutagenesis and the A/lII-SplI fragment (1.2 kb) for all other His-to-Ala mutations. Thus, I could eliminate the possibility that the phenotypes of the mutant enzymes were obscured by an unexpected mutation somewhere else introduced during *in vitro* DNA manipulations.

In vivo activities of mutant enzymes

First, the catalytic activities of the mutant enzymes were tested on their abilities to support aerobic growth of a strain that was unable to grow aerobically. Strain ST2592 was used for this complementation analysis. It has deletion mutations in both the *cyo* and *cyd* loci. In addition, it has the *recA* mutation and is therefore unable to rescue its chromosomal *cyo* mutation by recombination with the *cyo* gene introduced on a plasmid. To transform this strain, I emplyed a mini-F plasmid. Since it contains EcoRIgenerated f5 replicator fragment of the conjugative plasmid F (Timmis *et al.* 1975), the multi-copy suppression effect could be avoided. In this study, first, a novel unique restriction site, NheI, was introduced into a laboratory stock mini-F plasmid, pMFO1 (Nakamura *et al.* 1990) which carries entire *cyo* operon into plasmid pMF3 (Manis and Kline 1977). Then, the restriction fragments of each mutant gene cut with NheI and SphI enzymes were inserted into this plasmid. Catalytic activity of the mutant enzyme should correlate with rate of aerobic growth on a nonfermentable carbon source of the double mutant cells carrying the mutated gene on mini-F plasmid.

The anaerobic transformants of ST2592 were streaked on minimal-glycerol and minimal-glucose plates, and examined aerobic growth for two days. The results are shown in Fig III-2: Only two transformants carrying an I-H54A or I-H411A mutant gene could grow aerobically on minimal-glycerol plates like the wild-type depending on oxidative phosphorylation. This result indicates that both His-54 and His-411 in subunit I are functionally dispensable. The mini-F plasmids carrying all the other mutation failed to complement the defects in aerobic growth of the double mutant on minimal-glycerol plates, indicating that substitution of the totally conserved histidines caused complete loss of enzymatic activity. The fact that all the transformants grew aerobically on minimal-glucose plates eliminated a possibility that these mutations induced large structural perturbation of the enzyme complex that might alter membrane permeability. Hence, invariable histidines are essential for the structurefunction of the terminal oxidase, such as, its ability to bind prosthetic groups.

Quinol oxidase activity of partially purified preparations

Catalytic activities of the mutant oxidases were further examined by the experiments *in vitro*. The mutant enzymes were solubilized from cytoplasmic membranes with a nonionic detergent and separated from other cytochromes, such as an alternative quinol oxidase in the aerobic respiratory chain (*i.e.*, the cytochrome *bd* complex) and the cytochrome b_{556} (*i.e.*, the succinate dehydrogenase), by ion-exchange chromatography using HPLC. As shown in Table III-2, the mutant oxidases carrying H106A, H284A, H333A, H334A, H419A, and H421A substitutions did not show ubiquinol-1 oxidase activity. Since this result is in good agreement to the finding from the *in vivo* complementation test, the invariable histidines in subunit I are likely to be involved in catalytic functions of the enzyme.

Immunological analysis of the mutant enzymes

The expression levels of the mutant oxidases encoded by the multi-copy phagemids were examined by Western immunoblotting analysis of the cytoplasmic membranes (Fig. III-3). The amounts of polypeptides cross-reacting with rabbit polyclonal antisubunit I and antisubunit II antisera were not changed significantly by His-to-Ala mutations in subunit I. These results indicate that none of the mutations altered stability or assembly of the mutant enzymes. Spectroscopic analysis of the mutant enzymes in cytoplasmic membranes

The *E. coli* cytochrome *bo* complex shows split α absorption band at 555 nm and 563.5 nm in its low temperature redox spectrum (Kita *et al.* 1984, Mogi *et al.* 1992), both of which have been ascribed to contribution from the low-spin heme (Puustinen *et al.* 1991). In addition, the presence of this heme group can be confirmed by the detection of a low-spin component in the EPR spectrum with a g-value of around 3.0 (Hata *et al.* 1985, Salerno *et al.* 1989). The high-spin heme can be detected in the Soret region by a peak at 416 nm and a trough at 430 nm in a CO-binding (CO-reduced *minus* reduced) spectra (Kita *et al.* 1984).

Substitutions of His-54, -333, -334, and -411 did not have any significant effects on the spectra of either the lowspin or high-spin heme (Fig.III-4A). Thus, these histidines are unlikely to be heme ligands. Of the His-to-Ala mutations, only those of His-106 and His-421 completely eliminated the trough at 563.5 nm in the second-order finite spectrum at 77K (Fig. III-5A), suggesting that these two invariable His residues are the axial ligands of the lowspin heme. This result is consistent with the results of the EPR spectra (Fig. III-6) of the low-spin component (g=3.0) of this complex. On the other hand, the amount of CObinding high-spin heme were greatly reduced by substitution of His-106, -284, and His-419 (Figs. III-5B and III-7B). Since His-106 can be unambiguously assigned as one of the low-spin heme ligands, His-284 and -419 are candidates for a ligand of the high-spin heme.

Spectroscopic properties of partially purified preparations

The spectroscopic properties of some mutant oxidases were further examined in partially purified preparations, in which their properties were not obscured by contributions from other cytochromes (Fig. III-8). In contrast to the wild-type and H284A mutant oxidases, the H106A and H421A mutant oxidases did not show the 563.5 nm peak completely. However, the absorption around 555 nm in these low spin heme deficient oxidases was comparable to that of the wild-type oxidases, although the contribution of the high spin heme to the α absorption band in the wild-type oxidase was estimated to be less than 10 % (Puustinen et al. 1991). This result could be due to a loss of interactions of the high-spin heme with the low-spin heme and/or changes in the environment of the high-spin heme. Slight blue shifts (1-2 nm) of the 555 nm peak were observed in the H421A and H284A mutant oxidases, and the H421A oxidases showed a shoulder at about 550 nm. These indicate that loss of one of the hemes alters the spectral properties of the other by changing the electron distribution in the latter or the equilibrium of the conformational substates.

Copper contents in mutant oxidases

The effects of His-to-Ala mutations in subunit I on its copper content were examined (Table III-3). Cytoplasmic membranes were prepared from mutant cells grown in the absence of added copper, and used for analysis of copper contents by atomic absorption spectroscopy. The copper contents in the wild-type, His-54, -284, and -411 mutant

membranes were found to be stoichiometrically related with the amount of the cytochrome bo complex. For example, the wild-type membranes contained 0.75 nmol Cu atom / mg protein (Table III-3) and 0.89 nmol of cytochrome o / mg protein (Fig. III-4). On the other hand, the His-106, -333, -334, and -419 mutant membranes contained only negligible amounts of copper like membranes from cells harboring plasmids without the insert of the cyo operon. In the His-421 mutant membranes, the copper content was one fifth of that of wild-type membranes. These defects could be restored by supplementation of the medium with excess CuSO₄ (Table III-3). Strains carrying these mutant genes, however, were neighther unable to grow aerobically on minimalglycerol plates supplemented with CuSO₄, indicating that supplementation of excess copper is not enough for functional restoration. I assume that copper ions are able to associate with mutant oxidases in which distortion of a Cu_B binding site results in decrease in affinity for copper ions.

Taken together these data and those from spectroscopic observations for heme-binding (Figs. III-4, to -7), it is probable that His-333, 334 and 419 are ligands of Cu_B and His-284 is a ligand of the high-spin heme.

Construction of a model for membrane-spanning regions of subunit I

Chepuri and Gennis (1990) proposed fifteen transmembrane helices (0 to XIV) from experimental results using the cyoB'-lacZ and cyoB'-phoA fusion genes. Accordingly, I determined the boundarys for membranespanning regions so as to be in agreement with the reporter activity of the fusion gene product.

The procedure was as follows: First, hydropathic character of primary sequence of subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex was examined by the KKD method (Klein et al. 1985), which was developed specifically for membrane proteins based on Kyte-Doolittle prameters (Kyto and Doolittle 1982) and thus evaluated to be with least ambiguity and the highest accuracy in determining integral sequences (Fasman and Gilbert 1990). Original output is shown in Table III-5. Fourteen membranespanning regions (0 to XIV except IV) were predicted using the default parameters. Moreover, the region IV may be integral sequences due to its hydrophobic character despite the odds is relatively low. Since the topological study (Chepuri and Gennis 1990) indicated there are fifteen membrane-spanning regions in subunit I, I concluded the regions 0 to XIV (Table III-5) are integral sequences in subunit I. Second, several boundarys were modified. Because membrane hemoproteins are not the typical integral proteins_they often contain ligands for heme, the original output should be improved (Esposti 1989). The boundaries at cytoplasmic side of regions VI and VII were accordingly extended, which was based on information of the location of ligands for both hemes, and examination of the propensities of amino acid residues for the location of helix ends (Richardson and Richardson 1988). The result is shown in Table III-5, which was used to depict a model of membrane-spanning regions of subunit I (Fig. III-1).

Discussion

The *E. coli* cytochrome *bo* complex, which is encoded by the *cyoABCDE* operon (Chepuri *et al.* 1990a), consists of five subunits and has two α -absorption peaks at 555 nm and 563.5 nm in the low temperature redox spectrum (Kita *et al.* 1984, Mogi *et al* 1992). Resonance Raman spectroscopy (Uno *et al.* 1985) and EPR (Hata *et al.* 1985) studies have suggested that the high spin heme has at least one axial ligand (proximal ligand) and the low spin heme have two axial ligands. Salerno *et al.* (1990) determined the crystal field parameters of the low spin heme from EPR spectra and showed a *bis*-histidine ligation of the low spin heme. The identity of the ligand of the high spin heme remains uncertain, although His residue is most often found in other heme proteins as the proximal ligand.

Subunit I has been identified as the cyoB gene product and found to be the binding sites for the low- and high-spin hemes (Nakamura *et al.* 1990, Mogi *et al.* 1992). The presence of both hemes was detected in membranes containing overexpressed cyoBCDE. This would initially suggest that the low-spin heme of the complex may be ligated by residues that are present in one of the subunits encoded by cyoBCDE. Kita *et al.* (1984), however, have purified a two subunit complex of tye chtochrome *bo* complex that contains both hemes and copper. This preparation contains only subunits I and II and has been found to be active. This suggests that cyoCDE are not involved in ligating either of the hemes. Since both hemes are present in the cyoBCDE containing membranes, it would appear that cyoB contains both hemes of the cytochrome bo complex. The Cu_B component of this enzyme has not been experimentally localized to subunit I. However, since this prosthetic group is part of the binuclear center, it is likely that it is also localized to subunit I. These low spin and high spin hemes correspond to cytochrome b563.5 and o components, respectively and equivalent to cytochrome a and a_3 of the cytochrome c oxidases, respectively. It is suggested that the low-spin heme is located close to quinol oxidation site whereas the high spin heme/Cu_B binuclear center functions as a site for the reduction of molecular oxygen to water (Salerno *et al.* 1990).

Of twenty His residues in subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex, six His residues, His-106, -284, -333, -334, -419, and -421, were found to be invariable in the aa_3 -type cytochrome c oxidases of mitochondria and aerobic bacteria (Table III-1) and are located in the transmembrane regions II, VI, VII, and X (Fig. III-1). Two other His residues, His-54 and -411 are highly conserved and located in the putative hydrophilic loop 0-I and IX-X, respectively. Spectroscopic studies, such as MCD, EXAFS, and ENDOR, of the cytochrome c oxidases indicate that heme a is ligated by two His residues (Babcock et al. 1981. Eglinton et al. 1984), heme a₃ by one His residue (Blokzijl-Homan and Gelder 1971, Stevens and Chan 1981), and Cu_B by three His residues (Cline *et al.* 1983, Li *et al.* 1987, Scott et al. 1988). The fourth ligand of Cu_B is thought to form a bridge to heme a3. The identity of the fourth ligand is still controversial (Capaldi 1990). Since the E.coli

cytochrome *bo* complex belongs to the heme-copper oxidase superfamily (Gennis 1991), at least three His residues function as the heme ligands and the other three His residues are involved in binding of Cu_B, which is electronically coupled to the high spin heme.

In order to test the idea, I have carried out the oligonucleotide-directed site-specific mutagenesis of these His residues and examined the spectroscopic properties and the copper content in the mutant oxidases. Since manipulations of a large DNA segment (i.e., 5 kb of the cyo operon) may result in unexpected mutations elsewhere in the structure genes. I accordingly designed mutagenesis experiments so that phenotypes of the mutant oxidases would not be obscured by any unexpected mutations, and sequenced the mutagenized fragments thoroughly to confirm the desired codon change (see Fig. II-2). Then I introduced the fragments into the wild-type cyo operon for expression of the mutant genes. Moreover, expression of the cyo operon was tightly controlled by the T7 promoter in vector pCYOF4 during DNA manipulations, and the expression levels of the mutant oxidases were mimicked at the level of the chromosomal copy by using a single copy vector that I have developed for expression of membrane proteins.

Western immunoblotting analysis of the mutant oxidases (Fig. III-3) suggested that Ala substitutions of conserved histidines do not affect the assembly of the enzyme complex into the cytoplasmic membrane or the stability against proteolytic degradation. An *in vivo* complementation test (Fig. III-2) and *in vitro* quinol oxidase assay (Table III-2) both demonstrated that the six invariable histidines are essential for the catalytic functions of the cytochrome *bo* complex. In contrast, the possibility that His-54 and His-411 are ligands of the prosthetic groups of this complex is excluded. This is quite possible since based on the current topological model of subunit I (Fig. III-1), the location of the H54A and H411A mutations would be in the cytoplasmic and periplasmic space, respectively.

The defects of enzymatic acitivity by the mutations at conserved His residues were further examined by optical spectroscopy and copper analysis. Of the mutant oxidases, only the H106A and H421A oxidases showed loss of the 563.5 nm peak in the low temperature redox spectra of cytoplasmic membranes (Fig. III-5) and of partially purified preparations (Fig. III-8). These results indicate that His-106 and His-421 are the axial ligands of the lowspin heme. EPR characterization of the H106A and H421A oxidases in cytoplasmic membranes confirmed loss of the low-spin signal. By copper analysis of mutant membranes, I found that substitutions of His-106, -333, -334, and -419 resulted in complete absence of copper in the mutant enzymes. Since His-106 and -421 have been shown unambiguously to be the ligands of the low-spin heme. His-333, -334, and -419 are suggested to be ligands of Cu_B.

Substitutions of His-419 resulted in a large extent of reduction of CO-binding activity, and those of His-333 and -334 resulted in the slight reduction. These results are consistent with those obtained by Salerno *et al.* (1990). They reported that the copper associated with the high-

spin heme exert a strong effect on the strength of CObinding to that heme. Supplementation of the growth medium with CuSO₄ restored the defect in binding of copper atoms, suggesting that these His substitutions altered the affinity of the CuB binding site for copper atom due to loss of one ligand and/or perturbation of a tertiary structure of the redox center. From the assignments of His-333, -334, and -419 as ligands of CuB. I conclude that the His-284 residue is a proximal ligand of the high-spin heme. Defects of CO-binding in the H106A mutant enzyme could be due to perturbation of the high-spin heme / Cu_B binuclear center. In the His-284 mutant enzyme, a binding pocket for the high-spin heme is still present in the redox center and a ligand of the high-spin heme may be provided from the nearby Cu_B binding site (i.e., His-333 and Tyr-288 could be an alternative ligand (see Fig. III-8). Alternatively, portions of the hemes in the low-spin heme binding site may be able to bind CO in this mutant. These results confirmed possible interactions of His-284, -333, -334, and -419 in the binuclear center. I also obtained similar results on substitutions of His-106, -284, and -421 by Gln and Met residues. Lemieux et al. (1992) replaced seven conserved His residues in subunit I by other residues such as Leu and Gly. All of these mutants had similar phenotypes to those of Ala mutations in this study, indicating that constraints at positions 106, 284, 333, 334, 419, and 421 in functional enzymes are limited to His residues.

Thus, I conclude from this study that: 1) His-106 and -421 are the axial ligands of the low-spin heme, 2) His-284 probably functions as the proximal ligand of the high-

spin heme, and 3) His-333, -334, and -419 are possible ligands of CuB. I also suggest that these six invariable histidines also serve as ligands in the cytochrome coxidases. Furthermore, identifications of the ligands for the prosthetic groups in subunit I lead me to propose a helical wheel projection model (Schiffer and Edmundson 1967) of the redox reaction center in the cytochrome bo complex (Fig. III-9). The reaction center is provided by at least four putative transmembrane helices II, VI, VII, and X in subunit I, which all carry invariable histidines. The low-spin heme binding site is provided by helices II and X, and the binuclear center is formed by helices VI, VII, and X. A four- α -helix bundle is one of the common packing motifs found in protein structures with a wide range of functions (Weber and Salemme 1980). In the bacterial photosynthetic reaction center, two helices of two distinct subunits form this arrangement (Yeates et al. 1987). However, the redox center of the cytochrome bo complex is not an anti-parallel helix bundle which is an energetically favorable arrangement (Gilson and Honig 1989). Thus, Another putative transmembrane helix may be present in between these helices. Such a helix with a helix dipole whose direction is opposite to those of helices II, VI, and X could increase the stability of the helical bundle through electrostatic interactions. Since His-106 and -421 are so crucial in binding of the low-spin heme and CuB, they may also serve as key residues for driving a bundle of putative transmembrane helices to form the redox reaction center in subunit I through association of the transmembrane region II and X via heme ligation (see Fig. III-8). In the model, electron flow from ubiquinol-8 to the high-spin heme / CuB binuclear center is mediated via the low-spin

heme and the committed reduction of molecular oxygen to water takes place in the binuclear center. Proton pumping must be coupled to these redox reactions. Besides conserved histidines only two (potentially) charged residues (Glu-286 and Tyr-288 in helix VI) are present in the redox center. These charged residues may be involved in proton translocation by the heme-copper oxidases, as in a light-driven proton pump, bacteriorhodopsin (Mogi *et al.* 1988). Invariable aromatic residues such as Tyr-288 in helix VI may be involved in these electron transfer reactions. In the photosynthetic reaction center of *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*, Tyr-210 in subunit M has been identified as a key residue in primary electron transfer (Finkele *et al.* 1990, Nagarajan *et al.* 1990).

Tables

Table III-1 Sequence alignment of His residues in subunit I of the E. coli cytochrome bo complex with corresponding residues in subunit I of the *aa*₃-type cytochrome *c* oxidases. The amino acid sequences aligned are: Escherichia coli (Chepuri et al. 1990a); Halobacterium halobium (Denda et al. 1992); Bacillus subtilis (Saraste et al. 1991b); thermophilic bacillus PS3 (Ishizuka et al. 1990); Bradyrhizobium japonicum (Bott et al. 1990), Paracoccus denitrificans (Holm et al. 1987), Saccharomyces cerevisiae (yeast)(Bonitz et al. 1980), Neurospora crassa (Burger et al. 1982), Aspergillus nidulans (Waring et al. 1984), Chlamidomonas reinhardi (Boer et al. 1985), maize (Isaac et al. 1985), Soy bean (Grabau 1986), Trypanosoma brucei (Hensgens et al. 1984), Paramecium aurelia (Pritchard et al. 1986), Drosophila melanogaster (fruit fly) (De Bruijn 1983), Paracentrotus lividus (Cantatore et al. 1989), Xenopus laevis (flog) (Roe et al. 1985), bovine (Anderson et al. 1982), and human (Anderson et al. 1981) sequences. The numbering refers to the E. coli sequence. Deletions are shown as -. The His residues altered in this study are marked by asterisks.

					1	1	2	2	2	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	5	5	5	5	5	6	6
	1	5	9	9	0	9	6	7	8	3	3	7	1	1	2	7	9	5	5	5	7	8	0	5
	3	4	7	8	6	5	2	7	4	3	4	8	1	9	1	2	2	0	7	9	q	4	a	0
		+			*				*	*	*		+	*	*	-		0		-	-	-	2	0
E. coli	Н	Н	Н	н	н	Q	Н	Ν	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Y	Н	Y	н	н	н	н	н	н
H. halobium	Т	Н	S	L	н	Т	T	Н	Н	H	Н	Т	Н	Н	Н	1	Т	K	P	G	D	S		
B. subtitlis	-	Н	Q	A	Н	Q	N	Н	Н	Н	Н	Т	H	H	H	H	w	Y	H	S	L	G	1	
T. PS3	-	Н	G	L	н	Q	N	Н	Н	Н	н	Т	Н	Н	H	H	L	N	S	v	-	-	-	
B. japonicum	-	Н	Н	Т	Н	Н	Т	Н	Н	н	н	R	Q	Н	H	H	G	H	R	0				
P. denitrificans	-	Н	Н	L	н	Н	Q	H	Н	н	н	K	H	H	H	H	Y	H	K	F	-			-
S. cerevisiae	-	Α	Q	L	н	н	S	н	Н	н	н	A	Н	Н	Н	H	G	H	V	S	-		-	
N. crassa	-	А	Q	L	Н	Н	S	н	н	Н	н	Т	н	Н	H	H	G	H	L	S	F	Y	-	-
A. nidulans	V	A	Q	L	н	Н	S	Н	н	н	н	Т	н	н	н	Н	G	H	L	S	-	-		
C. reinhardi	-	Н	Q	L	н	Н	A	Н	Н	Н	Н	F	Н	н	н	H	G	H	v	R	-	-	-	
Wheat	-	Н	Q	1	н	Н	Т	н	н	н	н	K	H	Н	н	Н	G	H	T	K	-	-		-
Soybean	-	Н	Q	L	Н	Н	Т	н	Н	н	н	к	Н	н	Н	Н	G	H	A	K	-	-	-	-
T. brucei	-	Н	Q	F	Н	Н	S	н	н	н	н	С	н	н	Н	Н	F	D	C	C	F	F	-	-
P. aurelia	٧	Н	1	K	Н	٧	S	н	н	н	н	D	н	н	H	F	G	V	N	F	v	v		-
D. melanogaster	-	Н	Q	1	н	Н	S	н	H	н	Н	S	н	н	H	H	T	H	L	T	-	-	-	-
Sea urchin	-	Н	Q	1	н	Н	Т	н	н	н	н	E	н	н	н	H	L	H	P	T	-	-	-	-
Frog	-	Н	Q	1	Н	Н	Т	н	н	н	н	D	н	н	н	H	L	H	v	i	-	-	-	
Bovine	-	Н	Q	1	Н	Н	Т	н	H	H	H	S	H	H	H	H	M	H	Y	N	-	-	-	
Human	-	Н	н	1 1	H	Н	Т	Н	Н	Η	Η	S	H	H	H	H	Т	H	Y	K	-	-	-	-

*

: Invariant His residues : Highly conserved His residues ٠

: Deletions

Mutant	Ubiquinol-1 oxidase activity						
	µmol Q1H2/min	%b					
	/mg protein ^a						
WT	57.2	100					
I-H54A	39.1	48.0					
I-H106A	0.2	1.8					
I-H284A	0.5	0.9					
I-H333A	1.6	2.1					
I-H334A	0.9	1.2					
I-H411A	57.1	56.0					
I-H419A	0.2	2.9					
I-H421A	0.2	0.8					

Table III-2. Ubiquinol oxidase activities of subunit I mutants.

^aAverage of at least three determinations.

b Specific activity were normalized on the basis of the amount of subunit I in each membrane preparation, which was determined by densitometric analysis of the subunit I band in Western blots using a Shimadzu double-wavelength flying spot scanner CS-9000

WT: wild type.

Mutant	+ Cu medium	– Cu medium				
State of	nmol/mg protein ^a	<i>a</i> %b	nmol/mg protein ^a	%b		
WT	1.34 ± 0.02	100	0.75±0.00	100		
control	0.08±0.00	0	0.10±0.01	0		
I-H54A	1.00 ± 0.02	76	0.57±0.05	80		
I-H106A	1.17 ± 0.02	74	0.10±0.01	1		
I-H284A	1.40±0.14	122	0.59±0.03	81		
I-H333A	1.18 ± 0.03	96	0.11±0.00	4		
I-H334A	1.11 ± 0.07	74	0.11±0.01	2		
I-H411A	1.05 ± 0.06	62	0.55±0.00	82		
I-H419A	1.25 ± 0.07	85	0.11±0.00	2		
I-H421A	1.11±0.05	76	0.20±0.02	22		

Table III-3 Copper contents of subunit I mutants.

^{*a*}Average \pm S. D for at least three determinations.

^bSpecific contents of copper were normalized on the basis of the amount of subunit I in each membrane preparation, which was determined by densitometric analysis of the subunit I band in Western blots using a Shimadzu double-wavelength flying spot scanner CS-9000.
Strain	Cyt. <i>b</i> _{563.5}	Cyt.o	CuB	Quinol	Complementation
	and a			oxidase	test
WT	++	+++	++	+	+
control	-	-	-	-	-
I-H54A	++	+++	++	+	+
I-H106A	-	+	-	-	-
I-H106Q	-	+	N.T.	N.T.	-
I-H106M	-	+	N.T.	N.T.	-
I-H284A	++	++	++	-	-
I-H284Q	++	+	N.T.	N.T.	-
I-H333A	++	++	-	_	-
I-H334A	++	+++	-	-	-
I-H411A	++	+++	++	-	+
I-H419A	++	++	-	-	-
I-H421A	-	++	+	-	-
I-H421Q	-	+	N.T.	Ν.Τ.	-
I-H421M	HILL .	+	N.T.	Ν.Τ.	-

Table III-4 Summary of biochemical and growth propertiesof the mutant oxidases.

N.T.: not tested.

Table	III-5	Predicted	boundarys	of the	membrane-spanning
regions	s in su	ıbunit I.			

Regions	Original Boundarys from KKD argolithm	Odds P(Ext):P(Int)	Boundarys Proposed in This Study (Length)	
0	14(-1,+2)	-9.92	14	
Ι	55(-1,+2) 76(-3,+3)	-6.72	55—76(22)	
П	104(-3,+3)-128(-5,+5)	-8.76	101-123(23)	
Ш	144(-1,+2)-164(-2,+2)	-4.94	144-164(21)	
IV	196(-1,+2)-212(-2,+2)	2.28	196-212(17)	
V	233(-1,+2)-255(-2,+2)	-9.02	233-255(23)	
VI	286(-1,+2)-305(-2,+2)	-4.46	278-303(26)	
VII	314(-1,+2)-333(-2,+2)	-7.11	316-340(25)	
VIII	347(-1,+2)-364(-2,+2)	-0.37	347-364(18)	
IX	385(-1,+2)-404(-2,+2)	-4.19	385-404(20)	
Х	413(-1,+2)-432(-2,+2)	-3.35	413-432(20)	
XI	458(-1,+2)-479(-2,+2)	-4.67	458-479(23)	
XП	494(-1,+2)-518(-2,+2)	-9.71	494-518(25)	
ХШ	590(-1,+2)-609(-2,+2)	-5.57	589—607(19)	
XIV	609(-1,+2)-628(-2,+2)	-4.09	610-630(21)	

Figures



ο ι π πι τν ν νι ντι ντα τα χ χι χτι χτι χτι χτι

Figure III-1 Secondary structure model for subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex showing locations of the conserved residues. The secondary structure model based on the computer-aided prediction of membranespanning regions using the algorithm of Klein et al. (Klein, et al. 1985) has been modified by the results of gene fusion experiments (Chepuri and Gennis 1990). Membrane-spanning regions are indicated by rectangles with the numbers of amino acids residues at the beginning and the end of each transmembrane domain connected by hydrophilic loops. The locations of the eight conserved His residues (His-54, -106, -284, -333, -334, -411, -419, and -421) are indicated by bold letters 'H'. The invariant residues cited in Table III-1 are indicated by standard one-letter abbreviations: These residues are mostly located in the membranespanning regions I, II, VI, VII, VIII, X, and XI, and the loop II-III. For simplicity, non-conserved residues are not shown.



Figure III-2 Complementation test for aerobic growth of the Δ cyo Δ cyd double mutant ST2592 with the mini-F plasmid pMFO4 containing a single His-to-Ala mutation. A vector (pHNF-2) without the insert of the cyo operon was used as a control. Minimal medium plates containing 1 % glucose (upper panel) and 1 % glycerol (lower panel) were used for aerobic growth at 37°C for two days.



Figure III-3 Immunoblotting analysis of cytoplasmic membranes from strains expressing the mutant cyo operons with anti-subunit I and anti-subunit II antisera. Cytoplasmic membranes were prepared from strain ST4700 harboring pCYOF4 derivatives which contain a single His-to-Ala mutation. Samples of 5 μ g of membrane proteins per lane were loaded on SDS-12.5 % polyacrylamide gel. Α



В

Figure III-4 Second order finite spectra of dithionite-reduced minus air-oxidized difference spectra (A) and CO-reduced minus reduced difference spectra (B) of cytoplasmic membranes from the I-H54A, I-H333A, I-H334A and I-H411A mutants. A, Spectra were recorded with a Shimadzu UV-3000 spectrophotometer at 77K, with a spectral band width of 1 nm and light path of 1 mm. The scanning rate was 50 nm/min and the protein concentrations were 3 mg protein per ml of 30 mM Tris-HCl (pH7.4). B, Conditions were as for A, except that measurements were done at room temperature with light path of 1 cm and protein concentrations were 0.5 mg protein per ml. Treatment with CO gas was carried out as described (*Kita*, et al. 1984). Strains carrying plasmid pCYOF8 and pCYOF1 were used as the wild-type control (WT) and a negative control (control), respectively.





Figure III-6 EPR spectra at 15K on oxidized membranes from the I-H106A and I-H419A mutants. Cytoplasmic membranes from strain ST4700 (Δcyo , cyd^+) carrying either H106A, H421A mutant gene, or wild type gene (pCYOF2) were poised at 280 mV by TMPD and ammonium persulfate. Protein concentrations of H106A, H421A, , and wild type membranes were 28.1, 21.6, and 22.9 mg/ml, respectively.





Figure III-8 Dithionite-reduced *minus* air-oxidized difference spectra of partially purified preparations from the I-H106A, I-H284A, and I-H421A mutants Spectra were normalized by the height of the Soret peak. Conditions and procedures were as described in the legend to Fig. III-4



(Eisenberg, et al. 1984) and the results of site-specific mutagenesis in this study. Both hemes are oriented with their planes perpendicular to the membrane plane (Salerno and Ingledew 1991). See text for details.

Chapter IV. Replacements of Conserved Aromatic Amino Acid Residues

Aronattie ring may mediate sign as transfe

Living members wire show shifting any mailerable instantion, with goard speed and specificity. At any spin to promptome of transition material emitting angle and denote shering a barrier brane metals width angle and denote shering a barrier barrier barrier and character transfer incurs upply over large minimular thrances (16-20 Å), so far many examples have been frond where each a range samp also from transfer is smoothered to be minimular by the original solution and reacting in

Introduction

Mutagenesis study of subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex in *E. coli* has been used to insight the structure of this enzyme. Analysis of His-to-Ala mutant enzymes has led to the identification of both axial-ligands of the low-spin heme as well as a potentail ligand of the high-spin heme and three putative ligands of Cu_B. To insure the identification of ligands of the prosthetic groups and to further examine the structure of subunit I, in particular, molecular structure of the redox reaction center in subunit I, conserved aromatic amino acid residues were altered in this chapter. Since the crystal structure of this enzyme has not yet been determined, side-directed mutagenesis is one of the best way to study tertially structure of membrane protein at a molecular level.

Aromatic ring may mediate electron-transfer

Living organisms move electrons over considerable distances, with great speed and specificity. An appropriate arrangement of transition-metal centers can mediate electron-transfer because these metals readily accept and donate electrons, but in biological systems such electrontransfer occurs rapidly over large molecular distances (10-20 Å). So far, many examples have been found where such a long-range electron-transfer is considered to be mediated by the aromatic amino acid residue(s).

play important role in primary electron transfer from the special pair (P) to bacteriopheophytin (HL)(Yeates et al. 1988), and recently two groups obtained the supporting evidence by site-directed mutagenesis (Finkele et al. 1990, Nagarajan et al. 1990). Site-directed mutagenesis on the photosystem II of cyanobacteria indicated that the electron donor to P680+ was a Tyr-161 of the D1 polypeptide (Barry and Babcock 1987, Debus et al. 1988, Vermaas et al. 1988). In addition, Tyr-83 of plastocyanin involves the binding of plastocyanin to cytochrome *f* and is thought to form part of the main route of electron-transfer (He et al. 1991). Poulos and Kraut (Poulos and Kraut 1980) first suggested a critical role of the Phe-82 of tuna cytochrome c in the electron-transfer between cytochrome c and cytochrome cperoxidase complex with the aid of a compluter-graphics. This hypothesis has been probed by site-directed mutagenesis of yeast's enzyme. (Liang et al. 1986, Pielak et al. 1987). The Phe-82 is also suggested to involve cytochrome *c*-cytochrome *b*₅ electron-transfer from the computational calculation (Wendoloski et al. 1987).

Aromatic ring bulkiness may serve as binding pocket for prosthetic group

In a membrane protein which contains prosthetic group, aromatic amino acid residues are thought to play a structural role, probably providing bulkiness and hydrophobicity for a tightly packed hydrophobic environment about the buried portion of the heme, or providing π - π type interaction which stabilize a chromophore. The retinal environment of bacteriorhodopsin has been suggested to involve four aromatic amino acid residues, Trp-86, -182 and -189, and Tyr-185 (Mogi *et al.* 1989). They seem to stabilize the chromophore with their bulky aromatic side chains or by providing a binding pocket within the bundle of helices (Henderson *et al.* 1990). In yeast iso-1-cytochrome c, Tyr-48 and Trp-59 form hydrogen bonds to the deeply buried heme propionate-7 on pyrrole ring IV, and Tyr-67 forms a hydrogen bond to sulfur of Met-80 which is an axial ligand of heme c. Moreover, all six aromatic amino acid residues in cytochrome b_{562} from the cytoplasm of $E. \ coli$ lie in the vicinity of the heme group (Mathews 1985)

The aim of this study

In the previous chapter, a molecular model for the redox reaction center in subunit I of the cytochrome *bo* complex was presented. Although it is consistent with the results so far obtained, there are some unresolved problems. For example, Is His-284 really a proximal ligand of the high-spin heme? Why the reaction center is made up of energetically unfavoured "non" antiparallel helix bundle? In this study, I try to identify the aromatic amino acid residues which play significant role in the enzymatic activity, such as electron-transfer and formation of hemebinding pocket. Using the findings from the alterations of conserved aromatic amino acids, the four- α -helix bundle model is evaluated critically. Finally, based on the results throughout the thesis work, a improved model, five-a-helix bundle model, will be proposed.

Results

Mutagenesis of conserved aromatic amino acid residues in subunit I

Aromatic amino acid residue often play a significant role on long-range electron-transfer and stabilization of prosthetic group in a binding pocket. To identify the residues commited such a role in the redox reaction on the cytochrome bo complex, I altered the conserved aromatic amino acid residues in subunit I. This polypeptide contains 58 Phe, 20 Tyr, and 26 Trp residues in total. Table I-3 shows the conservancy in heme-copper oxidase superfamilly and that positions 147, 170, 288, 331, 391, and 420 are restricted to Trp, Trp, Tyr, Trp, Phe, and Phe residue, respectively, and positions 263, 282, 336, 348, 383, 415, and 439 are occupied by either of aromatic amino acid in any sequences. Other than those residues indicated above, there are many aromatic amino acid residues which are conserved at more than 60 % of the oxidases in the super familly. Of these residues, I selected the following twelve residues-Tyr-61 and -288, Phe-112, -113, -208, -328, -336, -348, and -415, and Trp-280, -282, and -331. These residues are highly conserved and located in the membrane-spanning regions of subunit I on a secondary structure model (Fig. IV-1).

Twelve mutated genes were constructed—I-Y61F, I-F112L, I-F113L, I-F208L, I-W280L, I-W282F, I-Y288L, I-W331L, I-F336L, I-F348L, and I-F415W by oligonucleotide directed site-specific mutagenesis using Eckstein method (Taylor *et al.* 1985). Once these mutated genes were subcloned, sequencing was used to establish the presence of the mutation in the final clone.

Enzymatic Activities in vivo

Mutants were initially characterized by determining whether or not they could reestablish aerobic growth in a strain, ST2592, that was unable to grow aerobically. All twelve mutated genes were subcloned into the mini-F plasmid pMFO4 using NheI and SphI restriction sites, following which ST2592 was transformed with them. Mini-F plasmids pMFO9 and pMFO4- Δ (*Hind*III-*Hind*III) and were constructed and employed as a positive and negative control, respectively. The results are shown in Fig. IV-2. Mutants W280L, Y288L, F328L, W331L, and F348L were unable to grow on nonfermentable carbon source, indicating that Trp-280, Tyr-288, Phe-328, Trp-331, and Phe-348 play important role on the terminal oxidase activity.

Immunological identification.

In order to examine the expression level of the enzyme, Western blotting analysis of subunit I (Fig. IV-3) and II of these mutant enzymes was performed using rabbit polyclonal antisera. Although Western blots indicated that both subunits I and II were present on the cytoplasmic membranes of all the mutants, only a replacement of Phe-112 by Leu residue caused a reduction, compared to the wild-type, in the amount of subunit I antigen found in the membrane. This indicates that all these mutations but F112L did not affect gross structure of this enzyme complex. Leu at position 112 may affect the amount of polypeptide correctly inserted in the cytoplasmic membrane or afffect the feasibility of those proteolytic lability. Phe-112 is accordingly a key residue for the folding and/or stabilizing the polypeptide.

Copper content.

The effect to copper binding was examined by atomic absorption spectrum using cytoplasmic membranes prepared from mutant cells, which had grown in the absence of added copper (Table IV-1). Copper content in the cytoplasmic membranes of the mutant W280L, Y288L, W331L, and F348L were greatly reduced compared to those of wild-type enzyme. Alteration of these aromatic amino acid residues might cause the constraints of the ligand(s) of the high-spin heme/CuB binuclear center.

From the study of His-to-Ala mutant, the redox reaction center of subunit I of the cytochrome *bo* complex was localized to a four- α -helix bundle which is comprised of transmembrane helices II, VI, VII, and X. On this model, Trp-280 and Tyr-288 locate in the helix VI, and Trp-331 locates in the helix VII. A defferent residue at their position might constrain the ligand (s) of the binuclear center. Therefore, the results that replacements of these three aromatic amino acid affected the enzymatic activity as well as copper-binding ability is in good agreement with the four- α -helix bundle model. In addition, Phe-348 in helix VIII was found to be important for enzymatic activities and copper binding, suggesting that helix VIII is located adjacent to helices VI and VII.

Optical spectra.

Dithionite-reduced minus air-oxidized difference spectra at 77K, their second-order finite spectra (Fig. IV-4), and CO-binding spectra (Fig. IV-5) of the mutants were obtained. All mutations appear to have nearly wild-type spectra, indicating that all the aromatic amino acid residues are dispensable for the heme-binding ability to bind both hemes, and furthermore, they don't involve heme-binding directly. In the mutant W280L and W282F, CO-binding abilities were reduced. They may potential candidates for members contributing to formation of the high spin heme-binding pocket. Mutations at Phe-112 and -113 effected to red shift of α -band, suggesting that these mutations effected conformational change of *a*-helix structure of the helix II and the effect was transfered to the low-spin heme through axial ligand bonding by His-106 causing change of electron density of the low-spin heme. On the other hand, the mutant F336L was found to have an additional peak at 552.1 nm. Because the bands of 555 nm and 563.5 nm were still present, the 552.1 nm band appear to be caused by alteration of environment at position 336. Although, additional experiments are required to draw any explanation, one possible explanation of this is that the mutation effected shift of the spin equilibrium of the high-spin heme toward the low-spin state, which brought an additional α-absorption band at 552.1 nm.

It is concluded from a combination of the experimental results that the aromatic amino acid residues, Phe-112 and -113 are suggested to be in the same helix contributing to the axial ligand of the low-spin heme, Trp-280, Tyr-288, Trp-331, and Phe-348 are suggested to

involve the binding pocket of the binuclear center, and Phe-336 may locate proximal to the sixth ligand position of the high-spin heme. Phe-328 also play an important role on the enzyme activity which is not relevant to prosthetic group binding. More experiments are required to determine which role Phe-328 plays in the enzyme complex.

Modeling

Membrane-exposed residues in the photosynthetic reaction center are more hydrophobic than buried interior residues in the transmembrane helices (Eisenberg et al. 1984), and are relatively poorly conserved (Komiya et al. 1988). Since these nature may be useful for packing of transmembrane α -helices in subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex, I examined periodicity of hydrophobicity (Fig. IV-6A) and mutability (Fig. IV-6B) in the integral sequences. As shown in Fig. IV-6A, none of the fifteen helices except IV show any convincing periodicity. This may have implications for its three-dimensional structure suggesting that they are not peripheral helices. Since the cytochrome bo complex is a multi-subunit complex in that each subunit has multiple transmembrane helices, subunit I can be accordingly surrounded by the transmembrane helices of other subunits and be shielded from lipids.

On the other hand, convincing periodicity of mutability were shown in several helices (Fig. IV-6B). I propose that the conserved side of these helices faces the interior of the helical bundle, where the prosthetic groups probably locate. Based on these characters of each helices and information from the mutagenesis work, a most reliable two-dimentional model for subunit I of the cytochrome *bo* complex is constructed (Fig. IV-7 and 8).

Discussion

In the previous chapter, a four- α -helix bundle model which depicts the redox reaction center of the cytochrome bo complex was presented. In the model, His-284 was ascribed to a proximal ligand of the high-spin heme based on the results that 1) His-284 is one of the six totally conserved His residues in subunit I. All of the totally conserved His residues had shown to be dispensable for the enzymatic activity in vivo and in vitro, and 2) the H284A enzyme contained CuB in a normal extent, while H333A, H334A, and H419A enzyme lost copper completely. Since it is very difficult to obtain direct evidence showing that His-284 is the proximal ligand, in this study, I attempted to identify the important aromatic amino acid residues in the vicinity of the heart of this enzyme. Twelve conserved aromatic amino acid residues, Phe-112, -113, -208, 328, -336, -348, and -415, Tyr-61 and 288, and Trp-280, -282, and -331 (Fig. IV-1) were individually replaced by Leu, Phe, or Trp and tested whether they had influences on the absorption spectra of the hemes and on copper binding ability. Aromatic amino acids were selected for the reason of that they are potential mediators of electron transfer and potential contributors of binding pocket for prosthetic groups. Accordingly, it is possible that these residues may involve ligand binding by stabilizing the ligand molecules with their bulky aromatic side-chains or by providing a binding pocket within the bundle of helices.

The twelve mutants were correctly constructed and expressed. The following discussion of the influence of the mutations on the enzymatic activity and the environment of prosthetic group is based on the assumption that the effects of the mutations originate from the molecular properties of the replaced amino acid and not from a secondary structural disorder. This assumption is supported by the results from Western immunoblotting with polyclonal antibodies which show that there are no gross alterations in the structure of antigen. First, Trp-280, Tyr-288, and Phe-328, -348 and -415 were found not to be dispensable for *in vivo* enzymatic activity. It implies that these residues locate in the vicinity of the heart of the enzyme and may play central role for the enzymatic activity, such as electron transfer and proton pumping.

Second, a mutation Trp-280 to Leu, and Trp-282 to Phe were identified to cause a half reduction of the amount of CO bound to the high-spin heme. The side-chain of Leu residue is smaller than those of Trp residue and lacks the stabilizing influence of the rigid aromatic ring. Phe residue is somewhat smaller than Trp residue and carry the stabilizing influence of the aromatic ring. It is accordingly tempting to suggest that Leu and Phe in the place of Trp-280 and -282, respectively, destabilized the high-spin heme in the heme pocket, and thus a half population of the apopolypeptide of subunit I could not bind the heme stably. These findings are consistent with the four- α -helix bundle model proposed in the previous chapter, which localized Trp-280 and -282 to the transmembrane helix VI together with an axial ligand of the high-spin heme, His-284. Third, Leu at Phe-112 and -113 effected red-shift of the α -band of the enzyme which recently has been determined to be due to the low-spin heme of this enzyme (Puustinen *et al.* 1991). Since these two Phe residues are dispensable for the enzymatic activity, these shifts were not caused by the disorder of heme-heme interaction, but might be caused by only the conformational changes of the α -helix on which they located, transmembrane helix II. These are consistent with the four- α -helix bundle model proposed in the previous chapter, which localized Phe-112 and -113 to the helix II together with an axial ligand for the low-spin heme, His-106.

Fourth, the substitutions of Leu residue for Trp-280 and -331, Tyr-288, and Phe-348 caused complete lack of CuB. The side-chain of leu residue is approximately similar in size to those of Tyr and Phe residue, suggesting that stabilizing effect by aromatic ring at these position is necessary to bind Cup. That is, they appear to involve a binding pocket for the CuB pocket. Of five essential aromatic amino acid residues for the enzymatic activity, all but Phe-328 were identified to also play important role on binding CuB. Which role does Phe-328 play on to drive the enzymatic activity ? Unfortunately, not any data which suggests the role of Phe-328 have been obtained. One possible explanation is as follows: Phe-328 locates the cytoplasmic half of the helix VII. The essential residues, Tyr-288 and Trp-331 occupy similar positions in the transmembrane helices, whereas nonessential residues, Trp-282 and Phe-336 locate the periplasmic half of the helices. Some significant local structure may be constituted in the cytoplasmic half of the transmembrane regions,

which is prerequisite, for example, for the redox communication between both hemes. Phe-348 locates in helix VIII, which was not depicted in a previous four- α helix model. Hence, it is better to append the helix VIII to the model of the redox reaction center in subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex. Since the resultant five helix bundle become far from antiparallel, appending of helix VIII decreases the stability of the helical bundle through dipole interactions. Hence, other transmembrane helices may be present in between these helices. It is worth noting that the cytochrome bo complex comprised thirty two transmembrane helices in a whole complex (Chepuri and Gennis 1990), and thus, the relative unstability of a couple of helices can be compensated for by a number of surrounding helices which form an energetically stable bundle (Fig. IV-7).

A more reliable model for the redox reaction center in subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex is proposed from a combination of the experimental findings throughout this thesis work (Fig. IV-8). The redox center is comprised of by five transmembrane helices II, VI, VII, VIII, and X in subunit I. Because both hemes are oriented with their planes perpendicular to the membrane plane (Salerno and Ingledew 1991), they are suspended between adjacent sections of transmembrane α -helices. The low-spin heme is sandwiched by helices II and X, and the binuclear center is formed by helices VI, VII, VIII, and X. Since His-106 and -421 are so crucial in binding of the low-spin heme and CuB, and alteration of Phe-112 on helix II effected the expression level of the enzyme, helix-helix interaction between helices II and X through binding of the low-spin heme may play a crucial role on folding of the whole enzyme.

Helix VI carries the largest number of conserved residues in subunit I (Fig. IV-8). This is likely to be the most important helix in this complex. In particular, sequences between positions 283 and 288, —GHPEVY—, are totally conserved. In this sequence, there is Gly and Pro residues at positions 283 and 285, respectively, which can disrupt the regular hydrogen-bonding pattern of α -helix. The sequence of Gly-His-Pro make the helix VI to form rather flexible conformation, which may enable the high-spin heme to bind exogenous ligand at the distal site and may enable to communicate with the low-spin heme through conformational changes (Bisson 1990).

In the model, electron flow from ubiquinol-8 to the high-spin heme / CuB binuclear center is mediated via the low-spin heme and the committed reduction of molecular oxygen to water takes place in the binuclear center. Proton pumping must be coupled to these redox reactions. Recently, Ingledew and Bacon determined the distance between the two hemes in this enzyme to approximately 14 Å (Ingledew and Bacon 1991). This distance falls within the estimated range of heme-heme distances (12-16 Å) calculated for aa3-type cytochrome c oxidase (Ohnishi et al. 1982), and thus, a long-range electron-transfer which is observed in many other redox proteins occurs in the hemecopper oxidase superfamily probably in a similar manner. In this study, several important aromatic amino acid residues were identified, which are potential candidate for electron mediator. The most probable residue is Tyr-288 from a consideration of spatial location. Unfortunately, to

examine this possibility is, however, rather difficult. Effect of the alteration of Tyr-288 could be obscured by the the lack of Cu_B in the mutant enzyme.

87

Table

Table IV-1.Effects of Replacements of the ConservedAromatic Amino Acid Residues

Strain	Transmembrane Helix	Cu _B %a	Aerobic Growth	Low-Spin (Heme	CO-Binding %a
WT	1	100	+	+	100
Vector	2	0	-	-	-
Y61F	I	89	+	+	71
F112L	II	85	+	+(red shift)	60
F113L	II	148	+	+ (red shift)	82
F208L	IV	80	+	+	101
W280L	VI	<1	-	+	54
W282F	VI	34	+	+	42
Y288L	VI	<1	-	+	64
F328L	VII	68	-	+	89
W331L	VII	<1	-	+	67
F336L	VII	57	+	+	96
F348L	VIII	<1	-	+	98
F415W	Х	103	+	+	86

 a Normalized by the amounts of subunit I polypeptide as described in the legend to Table III-2.

Figures



Fig. IV-1 Location of the aromatic amino acid residues altered in this study were shown in the secondary structure model of subunit I. The secondary structure model based on the computer-aided prediction of transmembrane helices using the algorithm of Klein et al. (*Klein*, et al. 1985) has been modified by the results of gene fusion experiments (*Chepuri and Gennis 1990*). Transmembrane regions are indicated by rectangles connected by hydrophilic loops. Locations of the conserved aromatic amino acid residues altered in this study are shown. Residues found to be essential for the enzymatic activities are indicated with oval.



Fig. IV-2 (A) Complementation test for aerobic growth of the Δ cyo Δ cyd double mutant ST2592 with a mini-F plasmid carrying Y61F(a), F112L(b), F113L(c), F208L(d), W280L(e), and W282F(f) mutant gene. The mini-F plasmid pHNF-2(g) and pHNFO-4 (h)were used as a negative and positive control, respectively. Minimal-medium plates containing 1 % glycerol were used. Plates were incubated under aerobic (left panel) and anaerobic (right panel) conditions at 37°C for two days.



Fig. IV-2 (B) Complementation test for aerobic growth of the Δ cyo Δ cyd double mutant ST2592 with a mini-F plasmid carrying Y288L(a), F328L(b), W331L(c), F336L(d), F348L(e), and F415W(f) mutant gene. The mini-F plasmid pMFO4 Δ (*Hind*III-*Hind*III) (g) and pMFO9 (h) were used as a negative and positive control. Minimal-medium plates containing 1 % glycerol were used. Plates were incubated under aerobic (left panel) and anaerobic (right panel) conditions at 37°C for two days.

- subunit I Y288 F328L MATUL (2 mg F338L (2.5 mg) (- subunit I Fig. IV-3 Immunoblotting analysis of cytoplasmic membranes from strains expressing the mutant cyo

rig. IV-3 Infinitionoforting analysis of cytophaline membranes from strains expressing the mutant cyo operons with anti-subunit I antisera. Cytoplasmic membranes were prepared from strain ST4700 harboring pCYOF9 derivatives which contain a single mutation at conserved aromatic amino acid residues. Cytoplasmic membrane samples were loaded on SDS-12.5 % polyacrylamide gel.



Wave Length (nm)

Fig. IV-4 Second order finite spectra of dithionite-reduced minus air-oxidized difference spectra at 77K of cytoplasmic membranes from the mutants. Spectra were recorded with a Shimadzu UV-3000 spectrophotometer at 77K, with a spectral band width of 1 nm and light path of 1 nm. The scanning rate was 50 nm/min and the protein concentrations were 3 mg protein per ml of 30 mM Tris-HCl (pH7.4).



Wave Length (nm)

Fig. IV-5 CO-binding spectra at room temperature of cytoplasmic membranes from the mutants. Conditions were as for Fig. IV-4, except that measurements were done at room temperature with light path of 1 cm and protein concentrations were 1 mg protein per ml. Treatment with CO gas was carried out as described (*Kita*, et al. 1984). Strains carrying plasmid pCYOF8 and pCYOF1 were used as the wild-type control (WT) and a negative control (control), respectively.



Fig. IV-6 (A) Spatial distribution of the hydrophobic side chains in transmembrane α -helices of subunit I. Hydrophobic residues are represented as lines extending out from the center of the helical wheel of the α -helix toward the location of residue. Hydrophilic residues are represented by lines extenting out from the center of the helical wheel toward the anti-direction of the locations of residues Hydropathy index from Kyto and Doolittle (Kyto and Doolittle 1982) was used in the analysis. Each helical wheel are depicted as if viewed from the N-terminal side of the helix.






Fig. IV-7 Helical wheel depiction of all fifteen helical regions arranged as if viewed from the periplasmic side of the membrane.



Chapter V. Conclusion

applease in the analysis propiratory statio of 2, dois and feveriance as protein proof. It belows to the house copyer satisfies a superfamily with the anti-type synthetic and a manifests in units theories and strates matters. In The theorie Trophone algos conserved bits restare in addicate 1 of the synthetic dista conserved bits restrates in addicate 1 of the synthetic dista conserved bits restrates in addicate 1 of the synthetic dista conserved bits restrates in addicate 1 of the synthetic dista conserved bits restrates in addicate 1 of the synthetic dista conserved by dist, the and the restrates (the plane fifts and replaced lowing transferred around a suits odd restrates by first first for restrates to the plane IVs. All the during water operation, has spectramented proceeded, the results water automatical and discord

1) II 1000A and TI421A in ryants did out contain the low spin home, which indicates that these die maldice dry On avail spands of the low-agin home.

2) HEREA. HEREA, and HERAA energinal diff and contain Our, which Indicates that these His residues are the include of Our.

It Happy A actives collision bopper show to a normal extent, but convices begins wetnesd amount of CO building abolity, which and which the the fair residue is an province live of at the high spin have. The cytochrome bo complex is a terminal ubiquinol oxidase in the aerobic respiratory chain of $E.\ coli$ and functions as a proton pump. It belongs to the heme-copper oxidase superfamily with the aa_3 -type cytochrome coxidases in mitochondria and aerobic bacteria. In this thesis, I replaced eight conserved His residues in subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex by Ala, Gln, and Met residues (Chapter III) and replaced twelve conserved aromatic amino acid residues by Leu, Phe, or Tyr residues (Chapter IV). All the mutant enzymes were characterized using genetical, immunological, biochemical, and spectroscopical methods. The results were summarized as follows:

1) H106A and H421A enzymes did not contain the low-spin heme, which indicates that these His residues are the axial ligands of the low-spin heme.

2) H333A, H334A, and H419A enzymes did not contain Cu_B, which indicates that these His residues are the ligands of Cu_B.

3) H284A enzyme contained copper atom to a normal extent, but contained largely reduced amount of CO-binding ability, which indicates that this His residue is an proximal ligand of the high-spin heme.

100

4) F112L and F113L enzymes contained the lowspin heme whose α -bands were shifted to longer wavelength, which indicates that these Phe residues locates in the vicinity of a ligand of the low-spin heme.

5) W280L and Y288L enzymes contained a half amount of CO-binding heme, which indicates that these aromatic amino acid residues are in the neighbor of the high-spin heme.

6) W280L, Y288L, W331L, and F348L enzymes did not contain Cu_B, which indicates that these aromatic amino acid residues involve a binding pocket of the binuclear center.

7) His-54, His-411, Tyr-61, Phe-208, Phe-336, and Tyr-415 residues could be altered without eliminating enzymatic activity, heme-binding, and copper-binding, which indicates that these are dispensable residues in this enzyme.

Based on these findings, I finally presented a helical wheel model (working model) of the redox reaction center in subunit I that consists of the transmembrane helices II, VI, VII, VIII and X. And implications of the model were discussed.

During long time many researchers have studied the molecular structure of the cytochrome c oxidase. So far, a number of structure models of the redox reaction center of the cytochrome c oxidase have been proposed (Welinder and Mikkelsen 1983, Holm *et al.* 1987, Lundeen and Chance 1987, Saraste 1990, Saraste *et al.* 1991b, Wrigglesworgh 1991), which, however, are not based on the experimental findings. This study on the cytochrome *bo* complex in *E. coli* first elucidate the molecular structure of the redox reaction center in terminal oxidase, which is applicable to the eucaryotic counterpart. Recently, several site-directed mutagenesis studies which were oriented to the determination of a ligand of prosthetic groups, e.g., (Fang et al. 1988, Fridén and Hederstedt 1990, Nakai et al. 1990, Van de Kamp et al. 1990, Chang et al. 1991, Pakrasi et al. 1991, Yun et al. 1991). Some of them seems to have obtained rather ambiguous results. These might originate from a secondary effect of the exchaged amino acid, which is ussually very difficult to rule out. To examine the character of only the exchanged amino acid, we should always check whether there are gross alterations in the global structure. In this study, I confirmed that all the mutant enzymes were detected immunologically on the cytoplasmic membranes, and thus obtained rather clear results. However, the possibilities could not be excluded completely that the effects observed in this study was originated from a long-range structural alterations.

Finally, it is noteworthy that the structural study of the terminal oxidase proceed to the next step. The findings from this study are essential for studying the catalytic mechanisms of 1) long-range electron-transfer and 2) proton-pumping in the enzyme. The best studied enzyme which catalizes long-range electron-transfer is cytochrome c (Williams 1991), whereas which catalizes proton-pumping is bacteriorhodopsin (Khorana 1988). However, these knowledge are not simply applicable to the terminal oxidase, where long-range electron-transfer and pronton-pumping are coupled. The coupling mechanism has not elucidated at al. This is why the enzyme attracts many researchers all over the world. From now on, catalytic mechanisms of 1) long-range electron-transfer, 2) proton-pumping, and 3) coupling mechanism of 1) and 2) in the heme-copper oxidase will attract more and more interests.

And and a second second

brites and the set of the set of

Arguin, Y. (1981) Surveysi singless tabless direct line. For

Accellent V and Licensis, R. B. 104-11 The Million supervision of the set of

And D. L. T. Longer, S. R. Mar, and Taranda, S. R. Wall, Solution and Descent statements of All Solution and an end of the statement of the Descent statement of Tarana and All Solutions and Al

alitati C. The Column of Mr. Canadan M. S. and Saman I. L.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, S., Bankier, A. T., Barrell, B. G., de Bruijn, M. H. L., Coulson, A. R., Drouin, J., Eperon, I. C., Nierlich, D. P., Roe, B. A., Sanger, F., Schreier, P. H., Smith, A. J. H., R., S., and Young, I. G. (1981) Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome. *Nature* 290, 457-465.
- Anderson, S., de Bruijn, M. H. L., Coulson, A. R., Eperon, I. C., Sanger, F., and Young, I. G. (1982) Complete sequence of bovine mitochondrial DNA: Conserved features of the mammalian mitochondrial genome. J. Mol. Biol. 156, 683-717.
- Anraku, Y. (1988) Bacterial electron transport chains. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 57, 101-132.
- Anraku, Y. and Gennis, R. B. (1987) The aerobic respiratory chain of Escherichia coli. Trends Biochem. Sci. 12, 262-266.
- Au, D. C.-T., Lorence, R. M., and Gennis, R. B. (1985) Isolation and characterization of an *Escherichia coli* mutant lacking the cytochrome *o* terminal oxidase. J. Bacteriol. 161, 123-127.
- Babcock, G. T., Callahan, P. M., Ondrias, M. R., and Salmeen, I. (1981) Coordination geometries and vibrational properties of cytochromes a and a₃ in cytochrome oxidase from soret excitation Raman spectroscopy. *Biochemistry* 20, 959-966.

- Bachmann, B. J. (1987) in Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium (Neidhardt, F. C., Ingraham, J. L., Low, K. B., Magasanik, B., Schaechter, M. and Umbarger, E., eds), American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D. C.
- Barry, B. A. and Babcock, G. T. (1987) Tyrosine radicals are involve in the photosynthitic O₂-evolving system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84, 7099-7103.

Bisson, R. (1990) Bioelectrochemistry, Plenum Press, New York.

- Blokzijl-Homan and Gelder, B. F. V. (1971) Biochemical and biophysical studies on cytochrome aa₃ III. The EPR spectrum of NO-ferrocytochrome a₃. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 234, 493-498.
- Boer, P. H., Bonen, L., Lee, R. W., and Gray, M. W. (1985) Genes for respiratory chain proteins and ribosomal RNAs are present on a 16-kilobase-pair DNA species from *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* mitochondria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82, 3340-3344.
- Bonitz, S. G., Coruzzi, G., Thalenfeld, B. E., Tzagoloff, A., and Macino, G. (1980) Assembly of the mitochondrial membrane system Structure and nucleotide sequence of the gene coding for subunit 1 of yeast cytochrome oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 11927-11941.
- Bott, M., Bolliger, M., and Hennecke, H. (1990) Genetic analysis of the cytochrome *c-aa*₃ branch of the *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* respiratory chain. *Mol. Microbiol.* 4, 2147-2157.
- Burger, G., Scriven, C., Machleidt, W., and Werner, S. (1982) Subunit 1 of cytochrome oxidase from Neurospora crassa: nucleotide sequence of the coding gene and partial amino acid sequence of the protein. *EMBO J.* 1, 1385-1391.
- Bushnell, G., W., Louie, G. V., and Brayer, G. D. (1990) Highresolution three-dimensional structure of horse heart cytochrome c. J. Mol. Biol. 214, 585-595.

- Cantatore, P., Roberti, M., Rainaldi, G., Gadaleta, M. N., and Saccone, C. (1989) The complete nucleotide sequence, gene organization, and genetic code of the mitochondrial genome of *Paracentrotus lividus. J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 10965-10975.
- Capaldi, T. (1990) Structure and assembly of cytochrome c oxidase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 280, 252-262.
- Chang, T. K., Iverson, S. A., Rodrigues, C. G., Kiser, C. N., Lew, A. Y. C., Germanas, J. P., and Richards, J. H. (1991) Gene synthesis, expression, and mutagenesis of the blue copper proteins azurin and plastocyanin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88, 1325-1329.
- Chepuri, V. and Gennis, R. B. (1990) The use of gene fusions to determine the topology of all of the subunits of the cytochrome o terminal oxidase complex of Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 12978-12986.
- Chepuri, V., Lemieux, L., Au, D. C.-T., and Gennis, R. B. (1990a) The sequence of the *cyo* operon indicates substantial structural similarities between the cytochrome o ubiquinol oxidase of *Escherichia coli* and the aa₃-type family of cytochrome c oxidases. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 11185-11192.
- Chepuri, V., Lemieux, L., Hill, J., Alben, J. O., and Gennis, R. B. (1990b) Recent studies of the cytochrome o terminal oxidase complex of Escherichia coli. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1018, 124-127.
- Cline, J., Reinhammar, B., Jensen, P., Venters, R., and Hoffman, B. M. (1983) Coordination environment for the type 3 copper center of tree laccase and Cu_B of cytochrome c oxidase as determined by electron nuclear double resonance. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 5124-5128.
- Davis, B. D. and Mingioli, E. S. (1959) Mutants of *Escherichia coli* requiring methionine of vitamin B₁₂. J. Bacteriol. **60**, 17-28.
- De Bruijn, M. H. L. (1983) Drosophila melanogaster mitochondrial DNA, a novel organization and genetic code. Nature (London) 304, 234-241.

- Debus, R. J., Barry, B. A., Babcock, G. T., and McIntosh, L. (1988) Site-directed mutagenesis identifies a tyrosine radical involved in the photosynthetic oxygen-evolving system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85, 427-430.
- Denda, K., Fujiwara, T., Seki, M., Yoshida, M., Fukumori, Y., and Yamanaka, T. (1992) Molecular cloning of the cytochrome aa₃ gene from the Archaeon (Archaebacterium) Halobacterium halobium. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. in press.
- Eglinton, D. G., Hill, B. C., Greenwood, C., and Thomson, A. J. (1984) Low temperature magnetic circular dichroism spectra and magnetization properties of extracted heme a^{3+} bisimidazole. A model of cytochrome *a* in bovine cytochrome *c* oxidase. J. Inorg. Biochem. 21, 1-8.
- Eisenberg, D., Schwarz, E., Komaromy, M., and Wall, R. (1984) J. Mol. Biol. 179, 125-142.
- Esposti, M. D. (1989) Prediction and comparison of the haem-binding sites in membrane haemoproteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 977, 249-265.
- Fang, H., Lin, R.-J., and Gennis, R. B. (1988) Location of heme axial ligands in the cytochrome d terminal oxidase complex of *Escherichia coli* determined by site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 8026-8032.
- Fasman, G. D. and Gilbert, W. A. (1990) The prediction of transmembrane protein sequences and their conformation: an evaluation. *TIBS* 15,
- Finkele, U., Lauterwasser, C., Zinth, W., Gray, K. A., and Oesterhelt, D. (1990) Role of tyrosine M210 in the initial charge separation of reaction centers of *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*. *Biochemistry* 29, 8517-8521.
- Fridén, H. and Hederstedt, L. (1990) Role of His residues in *Bacillus subtilis* cytochrome b₅₅₈ for haem bnding and assembly of succinate:quinone oxidoreductase (complex II). *Mol. Microbiol.* 4, 1045-1056.

- Gennis, R. B. (1991) Some recent advances relating to prokaryotic cytochrome c reductases and cytochrome c oxidases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1058, 21-24.
- Georgiou, C. D., Cokic, P., Carter, K., Webster, D. A., and Gennis, R. B. (1988a) Relationships between membrane-bound cytochrome o from Vitreoscilla and that of Escherichia coli. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 933, 179-183.
- Georgiou, C. D., Dueweke, T. J., and Gennis, R. B. (1988b) Regulation of expression of the cytochrome d terminal oxidase in *Escherichia coli* is transcriptional. J. Bacteriol. 170, 961-966.
- Gilson, M., K. and Honig, B. (1989) Destabilization of and a-helixbundle protein by helix dipoles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86, 1524-1528.
- Grabau, E. A. (1986) Plant Mol. Biol. 7, 377-384.
- Green, G. N., Fang, H., Lin, R.-J., Newton, G., Mather, M., Georgiou, C. D., and B., G. R. (1988) The nucleotide sequence of the cyd locus encoding the two subunits of the cytochrome d terminal oxidase complex of *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 13138-13143.
- Green, G. N., Kranz, J. E., and Gennis, R. B. (1984) Cloning the cyd gene locus coding for the cytochrome d complex of *Escherichia coli. Gene (Amst.)* 32, 99-106.
- Green, G. N., Lorence, R. M., and Gennis, R. B. (1986) Specific overproduction and purification of the cytochrome b_{558} component of the cytochrome *d* complex from *Escherichia coli*. *Biochemistry* **25**, 2309-2314.
- Haltia, T. and Wikström, M. (1992) Molecular mechanisms in bioenergetics, Elsevier, Amsterdam, in press.
- Hanahan, D. (1983) Studies on transformation of *Escherichia coli* with plasmids. J. Mol. Biol. 166, 557-580.
- Hata, A., Kirino, Y., Matsuura, K., Itoh, S., Hiyama, T., Konishi, K., Kita, K., and Anraku, Y. (1985) Assignment of ESR signals of

Escherichia coli terminal oxidase complexes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 810, 62-72.

- He, S., Modi, S., Bendall, D. S., and Gray, J. C. (1991) The surfaceexposed tyrosine residue Tyr83 of pea plastocyanin is involved in both binding and electron transfer reactions with cytochrome f. EMBO J. 13, 4011-4016.
- Henderson, R., Baldwin, J. M., Ceska, T. A., Zemlin, F., Beckmann, E., and Downing, K. H. (1990) Model for the structure of bacteriorhodopsin based on hith-resolution electron cryomicroscopy. J. Mol. Biol. 213, 899-929.
- Hensgens, L. A. M., Brakenhoff, J., de Vries, B. F., Sloof, P., Tromp, M. C., Van Boom, J. H., and Benne, R. (1984) The sequence of the gene for cytochrome c oxidase subunit I, a frameshift containing gene for cytochrome c oxidase subunit II and seven unassigned reading frames in *Trypanosoma brucei* mitochondrial maxi-circle DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 12, 7327-7344.
- Hiesel, R., Schobel, W., Schuster, W., and Brennicke, A. (1987) The cytochrome oxidase subunit I and subunit III genes in *Oenothera* mitochondria are transcribed from identical promoter sequences. *EMBO J.* 6, 29-34.
- Holm, L., Saraste, M., and Wikström, M. (1987) Structural models of the redox centres in cytochrome oxidase. *EMBO J.* 6, 2819-2823.
- Ingledew, W. J. and Bacon, M. (1991) A comparative review of the structure and function of cytochrome *o* from *Escherichia coli* and cytochrome *aa*₃. *Biochem. Soc. Trans* **19**,
- Isaac, P. G., Jones, V. P., and Leaver, C. J. (1985) The maize cytochrome c oxidase subunit I gene: sequence, expression and rearrangement in cytoplasmic male sterile plants. *EMBO* J. 4, 1617-1623.
- Ishizuka, M., Machida, K., Shimada, S., Mogi, A., Tsuchiya, T., Ohmori, T., Souma, Y., Gonda, M., and Sone, N. (1990) Nucleotide sequence of the gene coding for four subunits of

cytochrome *c* oxidase from the thermophilic bacterium PS3. *J. Biochem.* (*Tokyo*) **108**, 866-873.

- Keilin, D. (1934) Cytochrome and the supposed direct spectroscopic observation of oxidase. *Nature (London)* **133**, 290-291.
- Khorana, H. G. (1988) Bacteriorhodopsin, a membrane protein that uses light to translocate protons. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 7439-7442.
- Kita, K., Konishi, K., and Anraku, Y. (1984) Terminal oxidases of *Escherichia coli* aerobic respiratory chain I. Purification and properties of cytochrome b₅₆₂-o complex from cells in the early exponential phase of aerobic growth. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 3368-3374.
- Klein, P., Kanehisa, M., and DeLisi, C. (1985) The detection and classification of membrane-spanning proteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 815, 468-476.
- Komiya, H., Yeates, T. O., Rees, D. C., Allen, J. P., and Feher, G. (1988) Structure of the reaction center from *Rhodobacter* sphaeroides R-26 and 2.4.1: Symmetry relations and sequence comparisons between different species. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 85, 9012-9016.
- Kyto, J. and Doolittle, R. F. (1982) A simple method for displaying the hydropathic character of a protein. J. Mol. Biol. 157, 105-132.
- Laemmli, U. K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature (London) 227, 680-685.
- Lederer, F., Glatigny, A., Bethge, P. H., Bellamy, H. D., and Mathews, F. S. (1981) *J. Mol. Biol.* **148**, 427-448.
- Lemieux, L. J., Calhoun, M. W., Thomas, J. W., Ingledew, W. J., and Gennis, R. B. (1992) Determination of the ligands of the lowspin heme of the cytochrome o ubiquinol oxidase complex using site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 267, in press.

- Li, P. M., Gelles, J., Chan, S. I., Sullivan, R. J., and Scott, R. A. (1987) Extended X-ray absorption fine structure of copper in Cu_A-depleted, p-(hydroxymercuri) benzoate-modified, and native cytochrome c oxidase. *Biochemistry* 26, 2091-2095.
- Liang, N., Pielak, G. J., Mauk, A. G., Smith, M., and Hoffman, B. M. (1986) Yeast cytochrome c with phynylalanine or tyrosine at position 87 transfers electrons to (zinc cytochrome c peroxidase)⁺ at a rate ten thousand times that of the serine-87 or glycine-87 variants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84, 1249-1252.
- Lo, K.-M., Jones, S. S., Hackett, N. R., and Khorana, H. G. (1984) Specific amino acid substitutions in bacterioopsin: Replacement of a restriction fragment in the structural gene by syntheric DNA fragments containing altered codons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81, 2285-2289.
- Lorence, R. M., Koland, J. G., and Gennis, R. B. (1986) Coulometric and spectroscopic analysis of the purified cytochrome dcomplex of *Escherichia coli* : Evedence for the identification of "cytochrome a_1 " as cytochrome b_{595} . *Biochemistry* **25**, 2314-2321.
- Ludwig, B. and Schatz, G. (1980) A two-subunit cytochrome *c* oxidase (cytochrome *aa*₃) from *Paracoccus denitrificans*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77, 196-200.
- Lundeen, M. and Chance, B. (1987) The transmembrane helices of beef heart cytochrome oxidase. *Biophys. J.* **51**, 693-695.
- Manis, J. J. and Kline, B. C. (1977) Restriction endonuclease mapping and mutagenesis of the F sex factor replication region. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 152, 175-182.
- Mathews, F. S. (1985) The structure, function and evolution of cytochromes. *Prog. Biophys. Molec. Biol.* 45, 1-56.
- Matsushita, K., Ebisuya, H., and Adachi, O. (1991) Structural homology between two terminal oxidases, cytochrome a₁ and cytochrome o purified from Acetobacter aceti. Japan Bioenergetics Group Meeting (abstr.) pp. 24-25.

- Matsushita, K., Patel, L., and Kaback, R. (1984) Cytochrome *o* type oxidase from *Escherichia coli*. Characterization of the enzyme and mechanism of electrochemical proton gradient generation. *Biochemistry* 23, 4703-4714.
- Miller, J. H. (1972) *Experiments in Molecular Genetics*, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- Miller, M. J. and Gennis, R. B. (1983) The purification and characterization of the cytochrome d terminal oxidase complex of the *Escherichia coli* aerobic respiratory chain. J. *Biol. Chem.* 258, 9159-9165.
- Minagawa, J., Nakamura, H., Yamato, I., Mogi, T., and Anraku, Y. (1990) Transcriptional regulation of the cytochrome b_{562} -o complex in *Escherichia coli*: Gene expression and molecular characterization of the promoter. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 11198-11203.
- Minagawa, J., Mogi, T., Gennis, R. B., and Anraku, Y. (1992) Identification of heme and copper ligands in subunit I of the cytochrome bo complex in Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 2096-2104.
- Minghetti, K. C. and Gennis, R. B. (1988) The two terminal oxidases of the aerobic respiratory chain of *Escherichia coli* each yield water and not peroxide as a final product. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 155, 243-248.
- Minghetti, K. C., Goswitz, V. C., Gabriel, N. E., Hill, J. J., Barassi, C. A., Georgiou, C. D., Chan, S. I., and Gennis, R. B. (1992) A modified, large-scale purification of the cytochrome o complex of *Escherichia coli* yields a two heme/one copper terminal oxidase with high specific activity. *Biochemistry* submitted.
- Mitchell, P. (1961) Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by a chemi-osmotic type of mechanism. *Nature (London)* **191**, 144-148.

Mogi, T. and Anraku, Y. (1992) in preparation.

Mogi, T., Marti, T., and Khorana, H. G. (1989) Structure-Function studies on Bacteriorhodopsin. IX. Substitutions of tryptophan residues affect protein-retinal interactions in Bacteriorhodopsin. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 14197-14201.

Mogi, T., Saiki, K., and Anraku, Y. (1992) in preparation.

- Mogi, T., Stern, L. J., Marti, T., Chao, B. H., and Khorana, H. G. (1988) Aspartic acid substitutions affect proton translocation by bacteriorhodopsin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85, 4148-4152.
- Müller, M., Schläpfer, B., and Azzi, A. (1988a) Cytochrome c oxidase from Paracoccus denitrificans: Both hemes are located in subunit I. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85, 6647-6651.
- Müller, M., Schläpfer, B., and Azzi, A. (1988b) Preparation of a onesubunit cytochrome oxidase from *Paracoccus denitrificans*: spectral analysis and enzymatic activity. *Biochemistry* 27, 7546-7551.
- Murakami, H., Kita, K., Oya, H., and Anraku, Y. (1984) Chromosomal location of the *Escherichia coli* cytochrome b₅₅₆ gene, cybA. Mol. Gen. Genet. 196, 1-5.
- Nagarajan, V., Parson, W. W., Gaul, D., and Schenck, C. (1990) Effect of specific mutations of tyrosine-(M)210 on the primary photosynthetic electron-transfer process in *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 7888-7892.
- Nakai, M., Ishiwatari, H., Asada, A., Bogaki, M., Kawai, K., Tanaka, Y., and Matsubara, H. (1990) Replacement of putative axial ligands of heme iron in yeast cytochrome c₁ by site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 108, 798-803.

Nakamura, H., Mogi, T., and Anraku, Y. (1992) in preparation.

Nakamura, H., Yamato, I., Anraku, Y., Lemieux, L., and Gennis, R. B. (1990) Expression of cyoA and cyoB demonstrates that the CO-binding heme component of the Escherichia coli cytochrome o complex is in subunit I. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 11193-11197.

- Oden, R. L., DeVeaux, L. C., Vibat, C. R. T., Cronan. J. J. E., and Gennis, R. B. (1990) Genomic replacement in *Escherichia coli* K-12 using covalently closed circular plasmid DNA. *Gene* (Amst.) 96, 29-36.
- Ohnishi, T., LoBrutto, R., Salerno, J. C., Bruckner, R. C., and Frey, T. G. (1982) Spatial relationship between cytochrome a and a₃. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 12821-12825.
- Pakrasi, H. B., De Ciechi, P., and Whitmarsh, J. (1991) Site directed mutagenesis of the heme axial ligands of cytochrome b559 affects the stability of the photosystem II complex. *EMBD J.* 10, 1619-1627.
- Pielak, G. J., Concar, D. W., Moore, R., and Williams, R. J. P. (1987) The structure of cytochrome c and its relation to recent studies of long-range electron transfer. *Protein Engineering* 1, 83-88.
- Poulos, T. L. and Kraut, J. (1980) A hypothetical model of the cytochrome c peroxidase◊cytochrome c electron transfer complex. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 10322-10330.
- Pritchard, A. E., Seilhamer, J. J., and Cummings, D. J. (1986) Paramecium mitochondrial DNA sequences and RNA transcripts for cytochrome oxidase subunit I, URF1, and three ORFs adjacent to the replication origin. Gene (Amst.) 44, 243-253.
- Puustinen, A., Finel, M., Haltia, T., Gennis, R. B., and Wikström, M. (1991) Properties of the two terminal oxidases of *Escherichia* coli. Biochemistry 30, 3936-3942.
- Puustinen, A., Finel, M., Virkki, M., and Wikström, M. (1989) Cytochrome o (bo) is a proton pump in Paracoccus denitrificans and Escherichia coli. FEBS Lett. 249, 163-167.

- Puustinen, A. and Wikström, M. (1991) The heme groups of cytochrome o from Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 6122-6126.
- Raitio, M., Jalli, T., and Saraste, M. (1987) Isolation and analysis of the genes for cytochrome c oxidase in *Paracoccus* denitrificans. EMBO J. 6, 2825-2833.
- Richardson, J. S. and Richardson, D. C. (1988) Amino acid preferences for specific locations at the ends of a helices. *Science* 240, 1648-1652.
- Roe, B. A., Ma, D.-P., Wilson, R. K., and Wong, J. F.-H. (1985) The complete nucleotide sequence of the *Xenopus laevis* nitochondrial genome. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 9759-9774.
- Salerno, J. C., Bolgiano, B., and Ingledew, W. J. (1989) Potentiometric titration of cytochrome-bo type quinol oxidase of *Escherichia* coli evidence for heme-heme and copper-heme interaction. *FEBS lett.* 247, 101-105.
- Salerno, J. C., Bolgiano, B., Poole, R. K., Gennis, R. B., and Ingledew, W. J. (1990) Heme-copper and heme-heme interactions in the cytochrome *bo* containing quinol oxidase of *Escherichia coli*. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265, 4364-4368.
- Salerno, J. C. and Ingledew, W. J. (1991) Orientation of the haems of the ubiquinol oxidase:O₂ reductase, cytochrome bo of *Escherichia coli. Eur. J. Biochem.* 198, 789-792.
- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E. F., and Maniatis, T. (1989) *Molecular Cloning* 2nd Ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., and Coulson, A. R. (1977) DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74, 5463-5467.
- Saraste, M. (1990) Structural features of cytochrome oxidase. Q. Rev. Biophys. 23, 331-366.

- Saraste, M., Holm, L., Lemieux, L., Lübben, M., and Van der Oost, J. (1991a) The happy family of cytochrome oxidases. *Biochem.* Soc. Trans. 19, 608-612.
- Saraste, M., Metso, T., Nakari, T., Jalli, T., Lauraeus, M., and Van del Oost, J. (1991b) The *Bacillus subtilis* cytochrome-c oxidase Variations on a conserved protein theme. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 195, 517-525.
- Schiffer, M. and Edmundson, A. B. (1967) Use of helical wheels to represent the structures of proteins and to identify segments with helical potential. *Biophys. J.* 7, 121-135.
- Scott, R. A., Li, P. M., and Chan, S. I. (1988) The binuclear site of cytochrome c oxidase Structural evidence from iron X-ray absorption spectroscopy. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 550, 207-222.
- Shipp, W. S. (1972) Cytochromes of Escherichia coli. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 150, 459-472.
- Smith, P. K., Krohn, R. I., Hermanson, G. T., Mallia, A. K., Gartner, F. H., Provenzano, M. D., Fujimoto, E. K., Goeke, N. M., Olson, B. J., and Klenk, D. C. (1985) Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. Anal. Biochem. 150, 76-85.
- Sone, N. and Fujiwara, Y. (1991) Haem O can replace haem A in the active site of cytochrome c oxidase from thermophilic bacterium PS3. *FEBS lett.* 288, 154-158.
- Stevens, T. H. and Chan, S. I. (1981) Histidine is the axial ligand to cytochrome a₃ in cytochrome c oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 1069-1071.
- Stevens, T. H., Martin, G. T., Wang, H., Brudvig, G. W., Scholes, C. P., and Chan, S. I. (1982) The nature of Cu_A in cytochrome c oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 12106-12113.
- Taylor, J. W., Ott, J., and Eckstein, F. (1985) The rapid generation of oligo nucleotide-directed mutations at high frequency using phosphorothioate-modified DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 13, 8764-8785.

- Timmis, K., Cabello, F., and Cohem, S. N. (1975) Cloning, isolation and characterization of replication regions of complex plasmid genomes. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA* 72, 2242-2246.
- Towbin, H., Staehelin, T., and Gordon, J. (1979) Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: Procedure and some applications. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76, 4350-4354.
- Uno, T., Nishimura, Y., Tsuboi, M., Kita, K., and Anraku, Y. (1985) Resonance Raman study of cytochrome b₅₆₂-o complex, a terminal oxidase of *Escherichia coli* in its ferric, ferrous, and CO-ligated states. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 6755-6760.
- Van de Kamp, M., Floris, R., Hali, F. C., and Canters, G. W. (1990) Site-directed mutagenesis reveals that the hydrophobic patch of azurin mediates electron transfer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 112, 907-908.
- Vermaas, W. F. J., Hansson, O., and Rutherford, A. W. (1988) Sitedirected mutagenesis in photosystem II of the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis sp.* PCC 6803: Donor D is a tyrosine residue in the D2 protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85, 8477-8481.
- Waring, R. B., Brown, T. A., Ray, J. A., Scazzocchio, C., and Davies, R. W. (1984) Three variant introns of the same general class in the mitochondria gene for cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 in *Aspergillus nidulans. EMBO J.* 3, 2121-2128.
- Weber, P. C. and Salemme, F. R. (1980) Structural and functional diversity in 4-a-helical proteins. *Nature (London)* 287, 82-84.
- Welinder, K. G. and Mikkelsen, L. (1983) The oxygen binding site of cytochrome oxidase. Structural predictions on subunit I from amino acid sequences. *FEBS lett.* 157, 233-239.
- Wendoloski, J. J., Batthew, J. B., Weber, P. C., and Salemme, F. R. (1987) Molecular dynamics of a cytochrome *c*-cytochrome *b*5 electron transfer complex. *Science* 238, 794-797.

- Williams, R. J. P. (1991) Uncoupled and coupled electron transfer reactions. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1058, 71-74.
- Wrigglesworgh, J. M. (1991) The active site structure of cytochrome oxidases: Modelling by "catalytic homology". *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 19, 258S.
- Yamato, I., Anraku, Y., and Hirosawa, K. (1975) Cytoplasmic membrane vesicles of *Escherichia coli*. I. A simple method for preparing the cytoplasmic and outer membranes. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 77, 705-718.
- Yeates, T. O., Komiya, H., Chirino, A., Rees, D. C., Allen, J. P., and Feher, G. (1988) Structure of the reaction center from Rhodobacter sphaeroides R-26 and 2.4.1: Protein-cofactor (bacteriochlorophyll, bacteriopheophytin, and carotenoid) interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85, 7993-7997.
- Yeates, T. O., Komiya, H., Rees, D. C., Allen, J. P., and Feher, G. (1987) Structure of the reaction center from *Rhodobacter* sphaeroides R-26: Membrane—protein interactions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84, 6438-6442.
- Yun, C.-H., Crofts, A. R., and Gennis, R. B. (1991) Assignment of the histidine axial ligands to the cytochrome $b_{\rm H}$ and cytochrome $b_{\rm L}$ components of the bc_1 complex from *Rhodobacter* sphaeroides by site-directed mutagenesis. Biochemistry 30, 6747-6754.
- Zhang, H., Scholl, R., Browse, J., and Somerville, C. (1987) Double stranded DNA sequencing as a choice for DNA sequencing. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 1220.



